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MAJOR EVENTS FE;E#)

February 2023 —_&F=-=%_"H

R

Annual Memorabilia 2023
—ECCSEFEXER

The Group cooperated with Apple Inc. on the
mobile advertising business.

AEBEERNEHRBBEEEBSE -

The Group has become the core provider of
direct marketing business for iQiyi.

FEERAETE  HEEBRORBEE -

2022
| ATmEGwsmNAZ

Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group,
received the “Best Al Industrial Influence Power
Award under the China Artificial Intelligence
Golden Goose Award 2022” (2022 FE Al £fELE
Z ATEBEITHESE N KE), and Mr. Gao Dinan
won the “Outstanding Elite under the China
Artificial Intelligence Golden Goose Award 2022”
(2022 F[E Al £ESRE 2 FEH B LE).

AEEBZFATIMMEBES2022F EAISE

BIANTBRTEFEHAR | RSHBEREES
[2022 FEAILELR 2 GEHFETEE | o

—E_-FH BUWSHAERAE S



Annual Memorabilia 2023
—ECEEFEXER

May 2023 —EB—=%HH

The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon
under 2023 vivo Marketing Spotlight Program”
(2023 F vivo & SEER 5t B 2 BRI IT X FI5 D RE).

B ks
el T2 it

AR SBR[ 2023 F vivo & ST 5 812 emiAT
=EWEE -

ar% ¥ o

The Group organized the “2023 Mobile Harcore
Alliance Carnival Night and the 9th Anniversary
HH Celebration of the Mobile Hardcore Alliance”
if/ﬁl'«' E* ] (COBFEEFERZREFERHEBENAFTELES).
71EISFEH IR T ‘

REBMEBHR 2023 FEE R 2 REFWREBNEAF
BEg]-

August 2023 —EF=-=%/\H

The Group hosted the “Intelligent Terminal
Golden Seal Alliance Developer Salon” (¥ 8% &
#Rum 4 REEERRR 2L H D BE).

REFEM BB EER R RHERMEEDE] -
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Annual Memorabilia 2023
TEC=EFEXER

September 2023 —E=-=%F 1A

The Group hosted the “Game Industry Salon
under 2023 OPPO Elite Meeting for Marketing
Vertical and Horizontal Plan” (20235 OPPO% 4§
AESTEIE RS 2 BRITEEIS D).

REBEFAYP 2023 FE0OPPOL At M EIBHE >~
PEETESSE -

November 2023 —F=-=%+—H

The Group became the exclusive service provider
of the gaming sector for HONOR smartphones.

T s
J 522(;:;&;} w S B R B BT R AR -
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBES

Dear Shareholders,

Looking back at 2023, the domestic economy demonstrated
strong resilience and potential after undergoing adjustments and
adaptations. With various industries steadily advancing forward,
the demand in the mobile market gradually recovered. In the
fourth quarter of 2023, China’s smartphone shipments showed
positive growth as compared to the same period in 2022, further
driving the demand for mobile distribution across industries.
Against this backdrop, we overcame numerous challenges and
obstacles with all-out effort, explored uncharted markets, and
expanded our service scope while consolidating and deepening
our existing partnerships. Following our relentless commitment in
2023, our business now covers the mainstream operating system
ecosystems, including Android, Huawei HarmonyOS and Apple
iOS, with extensive cooperation with top smartphone manufacturers
such as Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO, Vivo, HONOR and Apple.
Furthermore, our collaborations expanded to areas such as video
and smart connected vehicles. We believe that benefiting from
our increasingly broadened comprehensive business coverage,
we will continue to deepen cooperation with a wider range of
participants in the mobile internet sector, leading to a healthier
and more sustainable development. | am pleased to present to the
Shareholders our annual report for 2023.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Since the market demand was in a stage of gradual recovering
in the first half of 2023, our annual revenue declined. However,
the fourth quarter witnessed a sign of significant improvement in
our revenue, as a result from our continuing focus on our fortes,
our ongoing efforts to improve operational efficiency and quality,
and steady expansion of our service coverage. Our total revenue
in 2023 was RMB2,098.2 million, representing an 8.8% decrease
as compared to RMB2,300.9 million in 2022. Our gross profit
decreased by 4.8% to RMB223.3 million, and our profit after tax
was RMB22.0 million in 2023.

8 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

HBMRR -

BEE—Z-_=F  BEAKBEELRET7HAEMN
BEERBEBHBRNEEMED - F1T&
¥EEBHRE > FEMBBERTESME =
E_=FENEEHEEETFHREESE "
E__FRIPMELEEHBEEOER  EE—
TRETETEHBBIBNER - ELE
ST BM=REERS - KA - FIR
Bt EREMRLCBEESENREE  TH
SMNERFINREEHE - —T==F » LBRK
PN BE N BFANEKEL2EESERE
ZEHES EABERRFSLUKRBERIOSREE
NEREFEEIRBERGLER  FESER
HREES - VK~ OPPO ~ vivo ~ %18 -
EREEREETFHEER  WAEIEIRE
DR EBSEZEESHAREE - HMBEE
SENRMERBEARDH - RIBES
EZHNBBERASHEERLEEE  WRE
MBEMTFENER - RAMRABRKRRKRIE
ERMEBEE-E-=FEERE -

BAR5ERIR

HRTEEREZE=ZF L¥XFERES
MERE  KEME2FHNWABRTER 8
RPNV AEENEZES T PEFENT
% EEEREMBRABREEINEMER
HEE  FERARMNEERNEZNEEZN
EREBSEARMREEESE - HME=
E_=FMNHEREHAARY2,0982HETT
B-E-_FMHWARY2,30098B TR
8.8% c —E_=F HRMWERIRKL4.8%
ZARY223.35E L KPIMBEBRFEES
AR 0BT ©



BUSINESS REVIEW

In 20283, our business has covered all the mainstream operating
system ecosystems of smartphones. In addition to our close
cooperation with members of the MHA and Quick App Alliance, we
have established a global strategic partnership with Apple, enabling
us to provide mobile distribution services both at home and abroad
based on the iOS operating system ecosystem. We have also
entered into an exclusive business cooperation for game distribution
with HONOR, and HONOR officially joined the MHA in 2024. In
addition, we have initiated multiple collaborations with iQiyi in the
field of video, becoming its core service provider. We continue to
deeply penetrate the fields where we have keen insight, especially
in the field of mobile game distribution, where we are the only player
deeply and simultaneously engaging in partnerships with top-tier
smartphone manufacturers such as Huawei, Xiaomi, OPPO, vivo
HONOR and Apple. With the experience and data accumulated
in various operating system ecosystems and marketing channels,
as well as our understanding of the development of the mobile
distribution industry, we continue to iterate and update the
technology to improve advertising effectiveness and create value
for our customers and business partners. In 2023, the revenue
generated from our mobile advertising services amounted to
RMB1,997.8 million, representing a decrease of 9.1% compared to
the previous year. Although the industry’s recovery was relatively
slow by the middle of 2023, resulting in a certain decline in our
revenue, our business layout has become more comprehensive and
stable. These efforts have brought about a more positive impact on
our sustainable development.

We are committed to maintaining efficient communication
channels with our ecosystem participants to foster collaboration
and mutual benefits, and provide them with a one-stop service
experience across the entire value chain, full lifecycle and global
landscape. In order to provide quality services to our partners
and ecosystem participants from various industries, and to assist
potential participants in accelerating digital transformation and
enhancing ecosystem experience and community operation quality,
we organised hundreds of industry seminars and exchanges
in 2023 in collaboration with members of MHA, the ecosystem
branch of Quick App and Intelligent Terminal Golden Seal Alliance,
and maintained ongoing communication with diverse ecosystem
participants to gather their valuable insights and address their
challenges. We also boosted high-quality mobile games and
applications through various policies and traffic support initiatives.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBES

Our collaboration in the Internet-of-Vehicles (loV) business has
provided us with extensive experience in the Internet of Things
(loT) and various forms of smart devices. In 2023, Wanxin Chelian
Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., an associated company of
our Group, established an in-depth cooperation with renowned
automobile manufacturers such as Changan, GWM, Leapmotor,
Voyah and FAW Pentium, etc., evidenced by the execution of
contracts for a total of 3 million units of intelligent connected
vehicles, covering more than 90 applications, including vehicle
management and maintenance functions, as well as regular
entertainment and news services. We provide developers with
in-vehicle light application software access standards to facilitate
efficient access to in-vehicle software and enable accelerated
connection, data exchange and service sharing. Building upon our
experience in the loV, we explore diverse new application scenarios
on different smart devices. The alliances have established 16
working groups, providing more targeted services in different
fields to meet the diverse needs of various industries in the mobile
internet landscape. This paves a new path for the expansion of
mobile distribution and Quick App functions.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

In the coming year, we will leverage our accumulated resources
and experience to position ourselves as a leading provider of
ecosystem services and precision internet marketing services, and
fully capitalise on the distinct advantages of various distribution
channels. While continuing to deeply cultivate the Android
ecosystem, we will enhance our global expansion efforts for the
Apple’s iOS ecosystem and fully seize the opportunities brought
by the groundbreaking development of Huawei’s HarmonyOS.
We will deepen our comprehensive cooperation with Huawei to
provide our partners with comprehensive and high-quality mobile
internet ecosystem services. We will continue to focus on our areas
of strength, further increase our market share, and put emphasis
on the construction of our own ecosystem operations. Amid
digital transformation and pervasive artificial intelligence (Al), we
will continue to strengthen our Al placement technologies, keep a
close watch on the latest development on industry technology, and
further deepen our technological innovation and service models
to better adapt to market changes and customer needs, providing
more superior, convenient and secure solutions, thereby reinforcing
our leading position in the industry. We will actively expand our
overseas business, steadfastly supporting the global expansion of
Chinese games. We will continue to work closely with all alliance
members and partners, continuously hosting numerous technical
development conferences and industry discussion summits
to further enhance the role and influence of the alliance in the
industry. Together, we will improve and strengthen the community
ecosystem to better meet the needs of ecosystem participants,
create more value, and support the healthy development of the
industry.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere appreciation
to the management team and all employees. It is because of your
dedication, proactive work attitude and spirit that the Company has
been able to maintain steady growth. We also greatly appreciate
our partners, Shareholders and other stakeholders for their trust
and support over the years. We will continue to focus on the
areas where we have keen insight and enhance our professional
capabilities in order to provide better services to the participants in
the mobile internet ecosystem and make greater contributions to
the construction and stable development of the industry ecosystem.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
7 June 2024
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Financial Highlights

MBS RE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR ZFeEaR
LOSS
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1t-BLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-nE  CZE2CEE B ZEC-E ZECIE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%ETRT AR%Trt AR%Trt ARETR
Revenue s 2,396,187 1,726,746 2,098,198 2,300,875 2,098,220
Cost of sales HERAK (2,057,972)  (1,483,999)  (1,834,882)  (2,066,400)  (1,874,952)
Gross profit E7 338,215 242,747 263,316 234,475 223,268
Other income and gains Hig AR B 24,508 18,123 17,138 42,718 17,153
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHHEY (31,636) (16,477) (15,001) (19,372) (25,751)
Research and development costs TR (45,419) (73,543) (67,036) (86,192) (80,660)
Impairment loss on accounts FUERFUREEE
receivable (5,960) (13,942) (37,401) (35,950) (18,973)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEHERSE - (448) (154,786) (2,361)
Administrative expenses THEX (49,789) (40, 401) (46,301) (52,793) (50,385)
Other expenses and losses HitBAZRER (2,892) (1,166) (659) (5,328) (5,976)
Share-based payment expenses DRBBEBNATREX (51,251) (20,224) (18,160) (22,192) (8,149)
Finance costs B RAR (13,121) (10,172) (7,549) (7,696) (10,009)
Share of loss in an associate AME—BHELRER - (1,490) (3,826) (4,337) (3,545)
Profit/(loss) before tax REERF(F58) 162,655 83,455 84,073 (111,453) 34,612
Income tax expense Fresit (56,921) (16,642) (21,776) (17,105) (12,616)
Profit/(loss) for the year ERiEH(E51E) 105,734 66,813 62,297 (128,558) 21,996
Non-HKFRS Measures FE B BEEEL 2
(unaudited) (FAZER)
Adjusted EBITDA" {EHEEBITDA 246,443 128,723 121,838 87,132 65,626
Adjusted net profit® LUEHE s 159,698 87,037 80,905 48,420 32,506
(1) Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effect of depreciation, amortisation, (1) LA EEBITDAKBEITE ~ #E - BIEK

finance costs, income tax, share-based payment expenses and
impairment loss on goodwiill.

2) Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of share-based payment
expenses and impairment loss on goodwiill.
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Financial Highlights
A=

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ZEeEMBRRE (gRIER)
POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

As at 31 December

Rt=A=+-AH
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-hE C—E-EF —E-_-F —F-— —g-=

RVB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETRT ARETR

Assets BE

Non-current assets FRBEE 219,749 241,869 272,485 125,474 178,181
Current assets TEEE 1,369,365 1,329,751 1,572,878 1,785,626 1,795,549
Total assets HEE 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100 1,973,730
Equity and liabilities ERREE

Total equity e 1,035,475 1,156,798 1,390,913 1,372,824 1,404,976
Non-current liabilities e A= 6,543 3,440 19,822 7,255 4,861
Current liabilities REEE 547,096 411,382 434,628 531,021 563,893
Total liabilities HERE 553,639 414,822 454,450 538,276 568,754
Total equity and liabilities HERRAR 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100 1,973,730

SEo=FR BWEHERAE 13



Management Discussion And Analysis

iR E S

REVENUES

Our revenues from mobile advertising services decreased by 9.1%
from RMB2,196.7 million in 2022 to RMB1,997.8 million in 2023,
due to the decrease in the number of mobile games we advertised
during 2023.

In addition, we generated revenues from our online-video
distribution services and game co-publishing services of RMB56.6
million (2022: RMB84.5 million) and RMB4.3 million (2022: RMB5.5
million) in 2023, respectively.

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the
periods indicated.

L

KM REBRESHRENRER—E—_—F
MWAR2196.7TEEBTRMPIINE—ZE -
—FPARK1,9978BET ' ERAR=-ZT
“=FBRMEENBEERBERD °

toh RPN B =FD R B RERIEE
BOBBRBERESHEREELEREARY
56.6HBIL (ZE-"F : AR¥845H58
) RARBAIBERL (ZEZ-ZZ-F : AR
M55HBIT) °

TREIRATHBHVLEBHF -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILLFEE

2023 2022
—g-= —E-F

% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
1G58 25 LAk 2=
ARETR HEStE AR%®TT =R

Revenues gy
Mobile advertising BEBES 1,997,751 95.2% 2,196,736 95.5%
Online-video distribution PR GIEERD 56,583 2.7% 84,525 3.7%
Game co-publishing e EE 4,314 0.2% 5,512 0.2%
Others* H At~ 39,572 1.9% 14,102 0.6%
Total st 2,098,220 100% 2,300,875 100%

*

Includes revenue from software maintenance services
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Mobile Advertising Services

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of
marketers’ mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution
channels of our MHA members which consist of seven Android
smartphone manufacturers in China, non-MHA smartphone
manufacturers and non-smartphone manufacturer distribution
channel suppliers. We also offered a variety of advertising formats
across our distribution channels, including app store search ads,
in-feed ads, banner ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads, to
suit our customers’ specific needs. The following table sets forth a
breakdown of our advertising revenues by source for the periods
indicated:

R EY SR

BEE &R

HRZBEEABENS (BR7TRFEZE
EREFRRED) IR BEERFRRE
ARFERETFRRER D BREMBEND
BRETFIBRTEEFNBHERARFRE
BEMESUEERS - RMTROBRE
TRESEESEX (BERARFEER
EEE - FERARNES BEREES - HERX
EERNRES) MBERMNEFNEES
R o TREIRAIRBERMRFREDH
EE WA -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1t—HILFE

2023 2022

—g-= —E-CF
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
g (B atre
ARETR HMEStE AR%®TT B
Mobile game distribution BEIEE D 1,976,573 98.9% 2,169,988 98.8%
Mobile app distribution BEHERAEFD® 21,178 1.1% 26,748 1.2%
Total 4zt 1,997,751 100% 2,196,736 100%

Our mobile advertising revenue generated from distribution of
mobile games decreased from RMB2,170.0 million in 2022 to
RMB1,976.6 million in 2023, representing a decrease of RMB193.4
million, or 8.9% from 2022. The decrease was primarily due to the
reduced advertisement spending of our mobile game advertisers
during 2023. Our mobile advertising revenue from mobile app
distribution decreased from RMB26.7 million in 2022 to RMB21.2
million in 2023, representing a decrease of RMB5.5 million, or
20.6% from 2022, primarily due to the decrease in the number of
mobile apps we marketed during 2023.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging our success and experience in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
begun establishing our online-video distribution network to unleash
new monetisation opportunities since 2018.

With our stable relationships with suppliers of content distribution
channels and smartphone manufacturers, especially the MHA
members, we integrated the operational know-hows and experience
in the field of online-video distribution, and expanded our service
offerings to a broader range of marketers.

We generated a revenue of RMB56.6 million for this business line in
2023, representing a decrease of RMB27.9 million, or 33.0% from
2022. The videos we distributed are mainly in the areas of finance,
entertainment and movies.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game
developers, which include game optimisation, marketing,
promotion, distribution, monetisation and other user-related
services. Leveraging our extensive experience in game co-
publishing, amassed data volume and technical know-how,
we actively identified and sourced new game content as well
as optimised existing game content based on our in-depth
understanding of user profiles, preferences, tastes, and playing
habits. Moreover, based on our close relationship with various
smartphone-based distribution channels, we allocated game
marketing and promotion resources more efficiently and effectively,
with insights into the effect of timing of offer and type of virtual
items based on user behavior and in-game spending.

Our revenues from game co-publishing services decreased by
21.8% from RMB5.5 million in 2022 to RMB4.3 million in 2023. As
at 31 December 2023, we had co-published 55 mobile games in
China.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of distribution fees incurred
for advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor
costs and amortisation expenses.

Cost of sales decreased by 9.3% from RMB2,066.4 million in 2022
to RMB1,875.0 million in 2023. This decrease was primarily driven
by the decrease in distribution fees to our distribution channels,
which was in line with the decrease in our revenues during 2023.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 4.8%
from RMB234.5 million in 2022 to RMB223.3 million in 2023. The
decrease in gross profit was primarily due to the decrease in the
transaction volume on our platform across all segments during
2023.

The increase in gross profit margin from 10.2% in 2022 to 10.6% in
2023 was primarily due to the decrease of amortisation expenses
associated with our acquired intangible assets and the higher gross
profit margin contribution from our software maintenance services.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains decreased from RMB42.7 million in 2022
to RMB17.2 million in 2023, primarily due to the derecognition of
accounts payable occurred in 2022 and the decrease in additional
deduction of input value-added tax arising from preferential tax
treatment we recognised in 2023.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses increased by 33.0% from RMB19.4 million in
2022 to RMB25.8 million in 2023, which was mainly attributable to
the increase in marketing and advertising expenses.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

iR E S

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development cost primarily consisted of fees paid to
third party consulting service providers and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
decreased by 6.4% from RMB86.2 million in 2022 to RMB80.7
million in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in research expenses
of our systems.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE

We had impairment loss on accounts receivable of approximately
RMB19.0 million in 2023, primarily as a result of the general and
specific provision for credit loss from our accounts receivable.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL

The goodwill was related to our acquisition of Shanghai Chile in
2018. In consideration of the unforeseen business environment of
our online-video distribution services segment in the near future,
we made an additional impairment provision of goodwill directly
related to Shanghai ChiLe of approximately RMB2.4 million in 2023,
compared to RMB154.8 million in 2022.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses decreased by 4.5% from RMB52.8
million in 2022 to RMB50.4 million in 2023, which was mainly
attributable to the decrease in professional service expenses.

OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Other expenses and losses increased from RMB5.3 million in 2022
to RMB6.0 million in 2023, primarily due to the increase in staff-
related settlement expenses incurred.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSES

Our share-based payment expense decreased from RMB22.2
million in 2022 to RMB8.1 million in 2023, because the share-based
payment expenses in connection with the RSUs we granted to
certain grantees were recognised over the vesting period at a lower
weighted-average grant date fair value as compared to 2022.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs increased from RMB7.7 million in 2022 to
RMB10.0 million in 2023, primarily due to the increase of our bank
borrowings.

SHARE OF LOSS IN AN ASSOCIATE

We recorded share of loss in an associate of approximately RMB3.5
million in 2023, which mainly represented our share of loss from an
equity investment in Wanxin Chelian Technology (Shenzhen) Co.,
Ltd., an associated company of our Group.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense decreased from RMB17.1 million in 2022
to RMB12.6 million in 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the decrease in taxable profit of our subsidiaries in China.

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, profit for the year
was RMB22.0 million in 2023, compared to loss for the year of
RMB128.6 million in 2022.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures, which are unaudited and not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures
because they are used by our management to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not
consider indicative of our business performance. We also believe
that these non-HKFRS measures provide additional information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help
our management compare our financial results across accounting
periods and with those of our peer companies.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

iR E S

We define adjusted EBITDA as profit/loss for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income tax,
impairment loss on goodwill and share-based payment expenses
(“Adjusted EBITDA”). We define adjusted net profit as profit/loss
for the year without considering share-based payment expenses
and impairment loss on goodwill (“Adjusted Net Profit”). The terms
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not defined under the
HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit has
material limitations as an analytical tool, as they do not include all
items that impact our profit or loss for the relevant years. The effect
of items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit
is a significant component in understanding and assessing our
operating and financial performance.

In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial
performance, you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit in isolation or as a substitute for our profit/loss for the
year or any other operating performance measure that is calculated
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-
HKFRS measures may not be calculated in the same manner by
all companies, they may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.
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The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required

Management Discussion And Analysis

R EY SR

TRGZIHPANEFAREBITDAR EFHEF
BHRAEAREBEESBUBEREENFAENZ
NG EEEZETULLEMNBSE - £
EBITDAR & 782 5 i F M 3E 1% R & /8 B TX 3R

by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs. LEARERIRERY -
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HIL=FE
2023 2022
—g-= —EBCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT ARET T
Profit/(loss) for the year Fhitsd (E518) 21,996 (128,558)
Add: ho
Depreciation nE 7,942 6,682
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 2,553 7,229
Finance cost VB 3% 10,009 7,696
Income tax expense FTiEHiBEX 12,616 17,105
Share-based payment expenses DR AERNAREAX 8,149 22,192
Impairment loss on goodwill BEBEEE 2,361 154,786
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) {EAEEBITDA (RET#) 65,626 87,132
2023 2022
—8g-= —EC-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Profit/(loss) for the year FhiF(E58E)
Add: i 21,996 (128,558)
Share-based payment expenses B BERNAREX 8,149 22,192
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE 2,361 154,786
Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) ERARFRT (RESER) 32,506 48,420
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM

HMEZFEMEIR R R IR

OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF &
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
®+=-HA=+—H
2023 2022 Change
—E-= —E-CF p=k])
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMT T
Cash and bank balances BHEeRIRITER 534,899 612,551 -12.7%
Bank borrowings IRITIERK 303,500 260,000 16.7%
Current assets REEE 1,795,549 1,785,626 0.6%
Current liabilities mEEE 563,893 531,021 6.2%
Net current assets MEVEEFEE 1,231,656 1,254,605 -1.8%
Total equity IR fEAARE 1,404,976 1,372,824 2.3%
Cash and Bank Balances IRE& R ERITHEER

As at 31 December 2023, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB534.9 million, as compared with RMB612.6 million as at 31
December 2022. The decrease in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to the increase in accounts receivable near the end of
year under review and the increase in purchase of prepaid data
traffic. Our cash and bank balances were denominated in Renminbi,
Hong Kong dollars and US dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 amounted to
RMB260.0 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB71.0 million were secured by pledged deposits of RMB61.7
million provided by three of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank
borrowings of RMB95.0 million were guaranteed by two of our
subsidiaries, (3) the bank borrowings of RMB100.0 million were
guaranteed by our Company and (4) the bank borrowings of
RMB200.0 million were guaranteed by Mr. Gao.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

As at 31 December 2023, our bank borrowings increased to
RMB303.5 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB10.0 million were secured by pledged deposits of RMB10.4
million provided by one of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank borrowings
of RMB177.5 million were guaranteed by three of our subsidiaries,
(3) the bank borrowings of RMB90.0 million were guaranteed by our
Company and (4) the bank borrowings of RMB245.5 million were
guaranteed by Mr. Gao. All the bank borrowings as at 31 December
2023 were denominated in Renminbi and will mature within one
year, with fixed interest rates ranging from 1.500% to 4.150% per
annum. The increase in bank borrowings was primarily due to the
increase in external loans used for our business expansion.

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB1,231.7 million as at 31 December
2023, compared to RMB1,254.6 million as at 31 December 2022.
Our current assets were RMB1,795.5 million as at 31 December
2023, compared to RMB1,785.6 million as at 31 December 2022,
primarily due to the increase in accounts receivable from our mobile
advertising business, partly offset by the decrease in cash and bank
balance. Our prepayments, deposits and other receivables were
RMB579.9 million as at 31 December 2023, compared to RMB571.8
million as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly attributable
to the increase in purchase of prepaid data traffic for the Group’s
business development needs. Our current liabilities were RMB563.9
million as at 31 December 2023, compared to RMB531.0 million
as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to the increase in interest-
bearing bank borrowings and other payables and accruals, partly
offset by the decrease in accounts payable.

Total Equity

As at 31 December 2023, our total equity was RMB1,405.0 million,
compared to RMB1,372.8 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly
due to the net profit incurred during 2023.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

FEUBLE

As at 31 December

®+=A=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Current ratio (times)™ MENLE = (58 3.2 3.4
Gearing ratio (%)@ BEEEEBLER%)P? 28.8 28.2
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—HIFE
2023 2022
—T-= —E-_F
Adjusted net profit margin® KRR F R EO 1.5% 2.1%
Notes: BraE

(1) Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided by
our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

(2)  Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our

total assets at the end of each financial period.

©)) Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net
profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenues for the same

period.

Current Ratio

Our current ratio decreased from 3.4 as at 31 December 2022
to 3.2 as at 31 December 2023, primarily due to the increase in
current liabilities resulting from the increase in interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other payables and accruals.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio increased from 28.2% as at 31 December 2022 to
28.8% as at 31 December 2023, mainly due to the increase in total

liabilities.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin decreased from 2.1% in 2022 to
1.5% in 2023, primarily due to the decrease in gross profit and
other income and gains.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures mainly consist of additions to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Our capital expenditures
amounted to RMB430,000 and RMB750,000 in 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital
requirements from a combination of various sources, including
but not limited to internal resources and external financing at
reasonable market rates. We seek to improve the return of the
equity and assets while adhering to our prudent funding and
treasury policies.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars and the Hong
Kong dollars. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures in 2023.
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Management Discussion And Analysis
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investments for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets
for the Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to
Note 24 to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2022: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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Directors and Senior Management

OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 45, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and served as our chief
executive officer from March 2014 to December 2022, being
responsible for overall management of the business, strategy and
corporate development of our Group. Mr. Gao has 20 years of
experience in the technology industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business
director of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (AEEESERERMEALR)ER A A)
from June 2008 to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (BE 2
F]), which is a company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU),
specialising in Internet-related services and products and artificial
intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t R E & K £)
in July 2008.

Mr. NIE Xin (2%), aged 44, was appointed as an executive
Director on 27 August 2020. He joined the Group in March 2019
as the senior vice president and was responsible for the operating
management. He has over 15 years of experience in operations and
management.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Nie served as an operation manager
at Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from
September 2009 to September 2012. From November 2013
to March 2019, he served as the general manager of strategic
investment department of Suzhou Meishengyuan Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (B M EETEEREERA 7).

Mr. Nie graduated from the Central Radio and Television University
(PREFEEIRAE) in May 2006 with a college degree.
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Ms. JIANG Yu (#3F), aged 40, joined the Group in January 2019 as
a senior vice president and is primarily responsible for the corporate
and business development of the Group. She was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of our Company
on 20 July 2022 and 16 December 2022, respectively. She has over
17 years of experience in the technology industry.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Jiang served as a business
development manager at Beijing Airlnbox Information Technologies
Co., Ltd. (tRZ=HEEEEFMER2AF) from July 2007 to March
2010, a consolidated affiliated entity of KongZhong Corporation (2=
F4d), a company previously listed on Nasdag (stock symbol: KZ)
and privatised in April 2017. From March 2010 to April 2015, she
served as the director of mobile business department of Shenzhen
Aisidi Co., Ltd. (®YITh EZRMERAE]), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416). From April 2015
to December 2018, she served as a vice president of an internet
startup company.

Ms. Jiang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronics and
communication from Hunan University (#1F8 X&) and an MBA
degree from Peking University (JtZAKE) in July 2006 and July
2017, respectively.

Mr. YU Dingyi (F7T —), aged 45, was appointed as an executive
Director on 19 July 2023. He joined the Group in October 2022 as
a vice president of finance and was appointed as the chief financial
officer of the Group on 16 December 2022. He has over 23 years
of experience in financial management. Prior to joining the Group,
he served multiple positions in PetroChina Company Limited (FFE
BRAARRBMHER2AF), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 601857) and the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 857), from July 2000 to July 2014, with his last position as
the director of finance department of PetroChina Trading Company
Limited (FEIABARARBRMDER QA FHEED A 8). He served as
the financial controller and a director of APUS Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (BB & B A HAMTAR 1D B BR A7), from September 2014 to
October 2022 and from July 2019 to October 2022, respectively.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from China
University of Petroleum (FRE]IAMAER) in July 2000. He also
obtained a master’s degree in finance from The Central University
of Finance and Economics (FFSREF & KE2) in September 2006. He
is a member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since April 2019.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FREZE ), aged 59, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. He has been the deputy secretary
general of China Software Industry Association (F1BI# 41T 1%
&) since February 2017. From July 2007 to February 2017, he was
the deputy director of Institute of International Technology and
Economics (BB 1iT &I 5TFR) at State Council Development
Research Center (B 7%Px 2 R F A Ly).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (3t 75 RX#BAE) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (&L X28) in June 1991. Then he obtained a degree
of Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.

Mr. JIN Yongsheng (£7k4), aged 58, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2021.
He has successively served as a professor and head of the
Department of Business Administration and Public Administration,
dean and doctoral supervisor of the School of Economics and
Management, chairman of the Professor Committee and a
member of the Academic Committee of Beijing University of Posts
and Telecommunications (1t REE&E K &) since July 2004. He is
principally focused on teaching and researching in the fields of
digital economy, mobile internet industry organisation and strategic
management, including, among others, digital consumer behavior,
big data business model, value creation and value transfer of
mobile internet industry. He has published more than 100 articles
in top-tier journals such as Economic Perspectives (&7 &)
#E), Chinese Journal of Management Science (FEEERIE) and
the theoretical page of People’s Daily (AR H#R). From May 1996
to June 2004, he served as a professor, master supervisor and
deputy dean of the College of Economics and Management of
Beijing University of Technology (1tZR T# K2). From July 1988
to April 1996, he successively served as lecturer, director of the
Business Economics Teaching and Research Office, the Economics
Research Institute and the Scientific Research Office and associate
professor of the Department of Business Economics of Lanzhou
University of Finance and Economics (B BF 48 K E2).

Mr. Jin was graduated from Lanzhou University of Finance and
Economics (BN B4 KE8) with a bachelor’s degree in business
economics in 1985. He obtained a master’s degree in trade
economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (/
B & BUEKE) and a doctor’s degree in industrial economics
from Renmin University of China (FFE] ARXZ) in 1988 and 2002,
respectively.
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Mr. YU Limin (RFIE), aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 July 2022. He has over 22 years of
experience in financial management and investment. He served as
a project manager of audit department at Beijing Tin Wha Certified
Public Accountants (It R XEEEHEIEAT) from July 2001 to May
2004. From June 2004 to March 2005, he served as an investment
manager of Tianhua International Investment Services Co., Ltd.
(RERMRIRE RIS AR A F). From April 2005 to August 2009, he
served as a senior investment manager of Beijing Zodi Investment
Co., Ltd. (ZRPERERMDERAR]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000609). From August
2010 to March 2015, he served as the head of investment and
development department of Tianjin New Financial Investments Co.,
Ltd. (KZ2#HERIREERET D T). From April 2015 to December
2017, he served as the assistant president and director of corporate
finance department at Luyu Ecosystem Engineering Co., Ltd. (&
AR TRER D F). Since December 2018, he has served as
a senior project manager of audit department at Zhongxingcai
Guanghua Certified Public Accountants LLP (FF 18} ¢ &5t BT = 7%
Fi (BB B E ).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in trade economics from
Tianjin University of Commerce (KZB ¥ KXEZ) in June 2001. He
was accredited as a certified public accountant by the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (Bl ERHE) in
October 2020. He was also awarded with finance professional
qualification of intermediate economist by the Office of Professional
Title in Tianjin (K Z2M B TIEPAZ) in April 2013.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 45, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board. For further details, please see
the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our
Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. NIE Xin (§&3%), aged 44, is an executive Director and the senior
vice president. For further details, please see the paragraph headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive
Directors” in this section.

30  Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

RIREE 455 R=—ZT-_—FtA=-+
HEZEABUHEATES - HRUKER
RIREFEEABB22FENEZEH - FRRZZ
E-F+AZ_EENFRAETLAKRE
SIMEREMETHNEELE - RZTEW
EFRAZZZEERE=ZA  RIEEREBR
RERBERAFRELE - R-_ZFZTHF
MAZ=ZZEZTNENA » FEFLEPEER
ERHBERLA(—KRRINEEFERZ L
THAT » BRHBMKRES 1 000609) BRIREL
B -RIBE-ZFFENRBEZZ-—HE=8 >
BETREHEHMREEREETARRER
RPAR -MRE-—HEFNAZE=Z—+HF
+=h FEEREERIEERAITEH
BEREREAE -B=ZZE—-N\FE+=A
He o FEEPEM A ES BT (55
LR BT SREEKE -

REER-ZBE-FRANBREHERE
KEZELTEN - FR-F-EFT AT
BEME MBS R TAMSEMER - &
TR-B-=FNAREXRETHETFHR
REPBNERPREEMERES ©

B SHERE
BHBRE 455 0 BAMA - RITES -
EERER - AWE— S BENAY
[EERBREER - RANES - 9iTE
=-8&-

BEXE M5 RITESRSNER
H - BRE-SHF FLHAHIESER
EREEE - EMNES -BTES | —

B



Directors and Senior Management

Ms. JINAG Yu (#5), aged 40, is an executive Director, the
chief executive officer and the senior vice president. For further
details, please see the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior
Management — Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. YU Dingyi (F7T —), aged 45, is an executive Director and the
chief financial officer. For further details, please see the paragraph
headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors -
Executive Directors” in this section.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson (5R1tiE), aged 43, is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2005 and a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2005. He has extensive
experience in accounting, finance, business advisory, compliance
and secretarial work in listed companies. He has been serving as
the company secretary of Leader Education Limited (stock code:
1449), Xingye Wulian Service Group Co. Ltd. (stock code: 9916)
and Zensun Enterprises Limited (stock code: 0185), each being a
company listed on the Stock Exchange, since August 2020, July
2022 and February 2024, respectively. He graduated from the
University of British Columbia with a bachelor of commerce degree
in May 2002.
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Report of the Directors
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a technology company in the mobile Internet
market, helping connect businesses from various industries
to hundreds of millions of Android-based smartphone users in
China. It provides Android-based content distribution services for
marketers seeking mobile advertising, online-video distribution,
game co-publishing services and software maintenance services.
The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to
the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 96 of
this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may recommend the payments of dividend on a per
Share basis in respect of the Shares of the Company. In considering
the payment of dividends, the Company takes various factors
into account, including but not limited to the Company’s financial
performance, the business conditions and strategies, the capital
requirements, statutory and regulatory restrictions and any other
factors which the Company may deem relevant. The declaration
and payment of future dividends will depend upon, among other
things, financial condition, future earnings, cash flow, liquidity level,
business prospects and other relevant factors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for
the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 8 to 11 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 14 to 26 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company attaches great importance to environmental
protection and resource conservation, and continuously pays
attention to the impact of its business operations on the
environment. The Group is committed to maintaining the common
development of economy, environment and society, and promoting
awareness of environmental protection and resource conservation
in its daily operations. The Group strictly follows the relevant
environment protection laws and regulations of the PRC and
adopts various electricity-saving and water-saving management
measures, including management over air-conditioning settings in
office areas and enhancing management and maintenance of water
equipment, thereby improving efficiency and minimizing resource
consumption. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
find any environmental-related violations.

For details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance, and the important relationship between the Company
and its employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2023 published on the website of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s own
website (www.wankaonline.com) according to the Listing Rules.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks in its business operations,
primarily including: (i) failure to improve and enhance the
functionality, performance, reliability, design, security, and
scalability of its products and services to suit its clients’ evolving
needs, (ii) failure to develop and maintain successful relationships
with its local channel partners, and (iii) systems disruptions,
distributed denial of service attacks, or other hacking and phishing
attacks on its systems and security breaches.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 21 December 2018 by way of global offering,
raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$194.7 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses (the “IPO”).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from
the IPO had been utilised in accordance with the intended use
which was disclosed in the Prospectus. As at 31 December 2023,

the Group had utilised the proceeds as set out in the table below:
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FOR

Expected
timeline for
the use of
Net proceeds Utilization up to Utilization during unutilised
from the [PO 31 December 2023 the Reporting Period ~ Unutilised proceeds proceeds
KSR
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million millon million million ‘million millon million million
ARE NEE ARH NEE
BEr  BEr EBE¥r  EEn  EEEr  BEn  BEEr BER
Strengthening research and AT 584 514 584 514 - - - - -
development capabilities
Promoting the development RARERRRH 584 514 584 514 52 46 - - -
standard of Quick Apps BEER
Expanding senvice offerings and ~ EABEEHER 292 %7 292 %57 - - - - -
strengthening ecosystem JilE=kT 25
Expanding monetization channels ~ BE St EER 292 %7 292 %57 = = = = =
and strengthening sales and EAHERERRN
marketing capabilities
Working capital and EEESR-REERR 195 170 195 170 - - - - -
general corporate uses
Total @t 1947 1712 194.7 1712 52 46 - -
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To strengthen the financial position of the Group and provide
working capital to the Group, the Company completed the Placing
of 135,000,000 new Shares at the placing price of HK$1.45
per Share in March 2021, and received the net proceeds from
the Placing of approximately HK$189.0 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB157.8 million) after deducting the expenses

incurred in connection with the Placing.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from
the Placing had been utilised in accordance with the intended use
which was disclosed in the Prospectus. As at 31 December 2023,

the Group had utilised the proceeds as set out in the table below:
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s five largest
customers, which primarily include marketers seeking the Group’s
services, contributed to a total of 37.8% of the Group’s total
revenue and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of
9.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s five largest
suppliers, which primarily include distribution channel partners,
contributed to a total of 80.1% of the Group’s total cost of sales
and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of 29.8% of
the Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 16 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 29 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out on pages 100 to 101 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB1,020.0 million (as of
December 31, 2022: RMB1,016.5 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of December 31, 2023 are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company or
any of their respective connected persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YU Dingyi (@appointed on 19 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. ZHENG Wei (resigned on 19 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Mr. YU Limin

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
GAOQO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin and Ms. JIANG Yu shall retire by rotation,
and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the
AGM.

Report of the Directors

ESERE

o] {443 ik = e

BEZZE-=F+=ZA=+—H ' &AQFT
HOREEENBARYE1,02008 8T (BE
—EF+ZHA=+—H : AR¥1,016.5

e

BHET) °

RITERRE DR
AEEBE-F-=F+=A=+-ANR
THAREMERFERRYHREN
28 °

EREER
BEZZE-=F+=ZH=+—HLEEE &
SEVEEESEEZEOAQTES BRE
HEERHESEWEEATRETMERSIE
HEAERER o

=5
RS BRESAFREPOES :

BITESE :

SHRBERE (FE)

BELE

BFat (HEHTE)

FT %%k (R=BE=-=F+tA+N1H
EZ(T)

ERITES :
BREE (R-FE-=ZF AT IABFE)

BIFEPITES :
REELE
EXELE
FARKE

RBASERMAEINE  SFEBRE -

BELERBFLIEBRESE  HEFSE
RESNRBRRBEARS LEREE -

SEo=FR BWESHERAS 37



Report of the Directors

ESERE

In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
YU Dingyi shall retire by rotation, and being eligible, have offered
himself for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in
the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 27 to 31 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE
Xin, Ms. JIANG Yu and Mr. YU Dingyi, has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023,
20 July 2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively, for an initial term of
three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023,
20 July 2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively. The initial term
for their appointment letters shall be three years from 3 November
2021, 16 September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, until
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in directors’ information as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set
out below:

Appointment of Directors

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 July 2023,
Mr. YU Dingyi has been appointed as an executive Director of the
Company with effect from 19 July 2023.

Resignation of Directors

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 19 July
2023, Mr. ZHENG Wei tendered his resignation as a non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 19 July 2023 in order to
be more focused on his other job engagements.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no change of particulars of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company as required under the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors had any material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

No contracts of significance have been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling Shareholders
of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholders”) or any of their
subsidiaries or for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholders or any of its
subsidiaries at any time during the Reporting Period.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 11 and
12 to the financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits” set
out in Note 4 to the financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

ESRESTRASRRS - 4
A% 5 R (R HERE P Rt R itk

BE-E_=F+=-A=+—H ' ' KXQFE
ERBETHRABSRAR TS EEAHEE L
(EEREBHRHEMBRGIZEXVER) KA -
HEROREESTHEEREZSRBER
BISEXVEBE 7R B8 D ERE BAIAR L 7 K B
RFWERRAR (BRBRIEZERBER
BIERBRXENEFSIRBEENERZR K
7)) RERARBESRBAEEHIZEI521%
BAFFENETCMOERRAR  HiREL
MR RIMERCIFTEZESFRIE BTBAARL
ARBRANEERABNT !

Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding

Capacity/ in the

Name of Nature of Number of Long/short Company

Name Corporation Interest Shares position (%)

EAR AT IR

2 AT & 5 Rt & E BE RE BHESEEO(%)

Mr. GAO Dinan®  The Company Interest in controlled 419,209,300 Long position 27.48
corporations

=B BEES AT S LEER 419,209,300 #E 27.48

Mr. NIE Xin The Company Beneficial owner 1,587,000 Long position 0.11

BELE ARAF] EREBA 1,587,000 e 0.11

Ms. JIANG Yu® The Company Beneficial owner 2,790,000 Long position 0.18

BFutoe KAF BEREEA 2,790,000 #E 0.18
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2023.

(2)  Wanka Media Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Gao, and Wanka
Media Limited is the general partner of United Millennial Tech Limited
Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, Mr. Gao is deemed to be
interested in (i) the 243,909,300 Shares held by Wanka Media Limited,
and (i) the 175,300,000 Shares held by United Millennial Tech Limited
Partnership.

©)) Ms. JIANG Yu is interested in (i) 397,000 Shares and (i) RSUs granted
to her under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme entitling her to receive
2,393,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed to
have any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

FEIRRN IR R ARS8
mRRE

BE_ZT-=F+"A=1+—-R BRESH
Ho TIHAL (EFRESHARARSTH
AB) RIEE SR EIRPIEIB6MHRAERR
AIFENECMATERR G ARG+
BARBEESZRBERMEXVIBFE2RES
D EHMR AR AR D AR BN ERTLA

Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!

Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
B SAG

wE &E B e 38 E BaRA BYESLY (%)
Wanka Media Limited® Beneficial Interest; 243,909,300 Long position 15.99
Wanka Media Limited® BEifEs 243,909,300 HE 15.99
Interest in a controlled 175,300,000 Long position 11.49

corporation

SErERkR 175,300,000 HRe 11.49

Ms. LU Haiyan® Interest of spouse 419,209,300 Long position 27.48
PR L 1O BB R 419,209,300 HE 27.48
United Millennial Tech Beneficial Interest 175,300,000 Long position 11.49

Limited Partnership®

United Millennial Tech BnfER 175,300,000 "R 11.49

Limited Partnership®
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AR AT R
wE BiE Sy, tESEME BinEE ¥a ime BAOESHO (%)
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 102,702,430 Long position 6.73
Partners Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment ZEEEER 102,702,430 5= 6.73
Partners Co., Ltd.®
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 102,702,430 Long position 6.73
Holdings Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment SEEEER 102,702,430 e 6.73
Holdings Co., Ltd.®
Notes: MI5E -

1)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2023.

Ms. LU Haiyan is the spouse of Mr. Gao. Wanka Media Limited is wholly
owned by Mr. Gao, and Wanka Media Limited is the general partner of
United Millennial Tech Limited Partnership. There are 8 limited partners
of United Millennial Tech Limited Partnership, and none of such limited
partners holds more than one third of the limited partnership in United
Millennial Tech Limited Partnership. Therefore, under the SFO, Wanka
Media Limited is deemed to be interested in United Millennial Tech
Limited Partnership’s entire interests, and Ms. LU Haiyan, is deemed to
be interested in Mr. Gao’s entire interests.

The general partner of each of KIP Overseas Expansion Platform Fund
(“KIP Overseas”) and KIP Bright (Chengdu) Equity Investment Partnership
(LP) (R (R ED) B EE S A B E(BRAEE) (‘KIP Bright”) is Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Korea Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. Therefore, Korea Investment Partners Co., Ltd. and
Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. are deemed to be interested in the
entire interests held by KIP Overseas and KIP Bright, namely 96,642,500
and 6,059,930 Shares, respectively.

M

REEDERBE-T=F+-A=+—
B E #1717 8 81,525,743,350i& A% 17

FegR Lz T AL ENES - Wanka Media
Limited B m A2 EHE - MWanka Media
Limited & United Millennial Tech Limited
Partnership,2 EiB& % A  United Millennial
Tech Limited PartnershipB8Z AR &
BA - EREMEEARSE ARESE United
Millennial Tech Limited Partnership =4 2 —
A EBREERE - Al - RIEESFLBAE
1441 - Wanka Media Limited 4% 47 United
Millennial Tech Limited Partnership #2354
mPEAER BRI E AR EE
SRR R R

KIP Overseas Expansion Platform Fund
(TKIP Overseas |) S5t (R #EB) PRI & &
ERBEE(BRER) ([EH]) Z80NE
WA % A Korea Investment Holdings Co.,
Ltd. = ##YKorea Investment Partners Co.,
Ltd. ° At + Korea Investment Partners Co.,
Ltd. K& Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd.
W48 A BIFKIP Overseas & S #iF A2
e (B96,642,500% & .6,059,930 % %
7) hER R -
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2023, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Company has adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme and
the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme.

The Company also previously adopted a post-IPO share option
scheme on 3 November 2018 (the “Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”). Further details of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme are
set out in the Prospectus. Given that the Company has not granted
any options under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme since its
adoption nor does it intend to utilize such scheme in the future, the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme was terminated by resolutions of
the Board on 20 April 2023 according to the terms therein, pursuant
to which, such scheme may be terminated by resolutions of either
of the Board or the Shareholders in general meeting. For details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 April
2023.

As no awards were granted under the share incentive schemes
of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023, the
number of Shares that may be issued in respect of options and
awards granted under all share schemes of the Company during the
Reporting Period was nil. Accordingly, the value of the number of
shares that may be issued in respect of options and awards granted
under all share schemes of the Company during the Reporting
Period divided by the weighted average number of Shares in issue
for the Reporting Period was nil.

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on January 6, 2016 and
amended by the Board resolution passed on May 24, 2018. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarised as follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.
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Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.

A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each
RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so
specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may
not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the
RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless otherwise specified by
our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter to the RSU
Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the
RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being March 31, 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier
in accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately two years.
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The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited
(the “RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by
the RSU Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure
the RSU Trustee to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company
shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in
connection with the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme shall be transferred, allotted or
issued to the RSU Trustee.

Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) to each of
the relevant RSU Participants. The Vesting Notice will confirm the
extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of
Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-
scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved. The RSU
Participant shall serve the exercise notice within three (3) months
after receiving the Vesting Notice. The RSU Trustee will not hold the
Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the RSU Participant after
this three (3) months period.
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The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held
or to be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 ordinary
shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, representing 4.10% of the number of Shares in issue as at
December 31, 2023 (without taking into account of any Share which
may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any RSU that may be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme). The 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme only involves the existing Shares, and no further
grant is permitted thereunder in light of its scheme limit, and all the
RSUs granted thereunder have been vested. No Share is available
for issue under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as at the date of
this annual report.

As of December 31, 2023, we had granted RSUs representing
62,500,000 Shares under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. During
the year ended December 31, 2023, no RSUs were granted or
agreed to be granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
(2022: Nil). Details of the RSUs granted pursuant to the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme are as set out below:
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:

EARITENZREROECBBEEEMNT :

Number of RSUs

SR EE S E

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2023 16,698,275
BE_T_-_=F—A—BH0ERITESER 16,698,275
Granted -
=t d _
Forfeited -
=l -
Exercised (8,602,040)
E1TE (8,602,040)
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2023 8,096,235
BE-_T-=F+-A=+—B0EKRTESS 8,096,235

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2019 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on August 29, 2019
and amended by ordinary resolution of shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 9 June 2023.

Certain principal terms and details of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme are summarised as follows:

The purpose of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme include existing employees, Directors (whether executive
or non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive
directors) or officers of the Company or any member of the Group
(the “2019 RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the 2019 RSU
Eligible Persons to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme at its discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2019 RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU
vests to obtain Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges
applicable, as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion.
Each RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include,
if so specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-
cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds
of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares.
A 2019 RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest in
any Shares underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are
actually transferred to the 2019 RSU Participant. Further, a 2019
RSU Participant may not exercise voting rights in respect of the
Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless
otherwise specified by our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU
grant letter to the 2019 RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights
to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or
the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any
Shares underlying the RSUs.

The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being August 29, 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier
in accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately five years.

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“2019 RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue new Shares to the 2019 RSU Trustee which
will hold such Shares to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs
upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the 2019 RSU Trustee
to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase
existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the
Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the 2019 RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the 2019 RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the 2019 RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “2019 Vesting Notice”) to each
of the relevant 2019 RSU Participants. The 2019 Vesting Notice will
confirm the extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the
number of Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved. The
2019 RSU Participant shall serve the exercise notice within three
(8) months after receiving the 2019 Vesting Notice. The 2019 RSU
Trustee will not hold the Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the
2019 RSU Participant after this three (3) months period.

Pursuant to the scheme mandate limit adopted by the Shareholders
on 9 June 2023 (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”), being a scheme
mandate limit on grants of share awards and/or options over new
Shares under all share schemes of the Company, the Shares which
may be issued in respect of all options and awards to be granted
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and any other share
schemes of the Company (if any) (including options and awards that
have been cancelled but excluding any options or awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective share schemes)
shall not exceed 152,574,335 Shares, representing 10% of the
number of Shares in issue as of 9 June 2023, being the date of the
Shareholders’ approval of the limit. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 24 April 2023 and 9 June
2023.

The maximum number of Shares underlying all options and

awards available for grant under the Scheme Mandate Limit was
152,574,335 Shares as of 31 December 2023.
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As of 31 December 2023, we had granted RSUs representing
91,738,000 Shares under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme,
including the following senior management and other current or
former key employees of the Company. During the year ended 31
December 2023, no RSUs were granted or agreed to be granted
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. Details of the RSUs
granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme are set out
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:

EARITENZREROECBBELEMNT :

Number of RSUs

ZIRHIR G EMEE

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2023 55,924,000
BE_F-_=F—H—HWERITESR 55,924,000

Granted

ER

Forfeited

Bl

Exercised

E{TfE
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2023
BE—F-=F1+-A=+—BHMEKRITESR

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share incentive plans as described above, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were entered
into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2023 or
subsisted at the end of the year of 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 34 to the financial
statements constituted as a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.

Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided
by our Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe when and to the extent permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into our Company’s
financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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Our Company (Cayman)

AnEl(FE )

100%

Wanka Hong Kong
(Hong Kong)

T ( &E )

100%

ChiLe Registered (1) :
Shareholders(3) 1111 Wa;l;; iig’?;gg ’jc)
T4 T ) Gk 3
100%

Provision of services
et AR

t Service Fees®? ‘
R 22

Shanghai ChiLe (PRC)
it 8 (HPE7)

¥

Subsidiaries of Shanghai ChiLe
RS A

=) Beneficial ownership in equity interests

mny Bengficial ownership through contractual arrangements

1)

56

Control of WFOE over the Registered Shareholders through (i) Exclusive
Option Agreements, (i) Equity Pledge Agreements, and (jii) Voting Rights
Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorneys.

Control of WFOE over the business of Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

The ChilLe Registered Shareholders refer to the registered shareholders
of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe is owned as to 51% by Mr. Gao
and 49% by Beijing JinChi, which in turn is owned as to 38.5% by Mr.
HUA Xinjiang (Z£%7/1), 56% by Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (FARINIHEEERARAA) and 5.5% by Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership (L= HREABLE(GRAE)).
Both Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership are controlled by Mr. HUA Xinjiang.

The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders refer to the registered

shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.
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A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(a)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE
and (2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the
WFOE (collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements”), the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the
exclusive provider to Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Shanghai ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities
of comprehensive technical support, business support
and relevant consultation services for annual service fees,
including but not limited to the following services in respect
of the Relevant Businesses: providing business management
consultation; providing marketing and promotional services;
providing system integration and maintenance services;
providing financial support; and providing equipment and
properties transfer, leasing and disposal services.

Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
after deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of
the preceding financial year(s), operating costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of
service fees according to, among others, scope and nature of
services and relevant market prices. The service fees shall be
paid on an annual basis and in accordance with the payment
instructions of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment
arrangements in Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements,
the WFOE also has the right to adjust the payment time and
payment method. Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to
accept any of such adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018,
and will be automatically renewed for additional ten years.
The WFOE also has the right to renew the term at its will and
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such
renewal. The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
shall not be terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b)
term of such agreement is expired.

(a)
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(c)
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times
and Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the
exclusive option agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and the Shanghai
ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the right to require the
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the WFOE and/or a
third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws. The
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration that they receive in the event WFOE
exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements
in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the equity
interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe.

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements have an initial
term of ten years commencing from their respective effective
dates, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018. The WFOE
has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such renewal. None
of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall not be terminated
unless in writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or
their respective shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and
each of the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2)
the equity pledge agreements dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe
Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge
Agreements”), Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and
ChiLe Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their
respective existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where applicable, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debits.
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(d)

The pledge in respect of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe
took effect upon the completion of respective registration
with the relevant administration for industry and commerce,
which are April 15, 2016 and March 12, 2018 respectively for
the Huanju Times Contractual Arrangements and the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements, and shall remain valid for an initial
term of ten years commencing from the respective effective
dates, which may be renewed by the WFOE in writing. If
there is outstanding debts of Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders, ChiLe Registered Shareholders, Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, the valid period of Equity Pledge Agreements
may be renewed in writing by the WFOE to the date when all
such outstanding debts have been fully paid.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorney
Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively,
the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those
who are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChilLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written
consent, any and all right that he/she has in respect of his/her
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.

(d)
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The valid period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018, and shall not
be terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (i) all the
equity interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe,
where applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated June 15, 2018 issued
by him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from March 1, 2016 or March
9, 2018, where applicable, to the date when the Voting Rights

Proxy Agreement expires.

Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On June 15, 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed
an undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in
favor of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1)
her spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe (together with any other interests
therein) are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or
the ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChiLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that
she will fully assist to the performance of the respective
Contractual Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that she will not have any claim on such equity
interests and assets; (3) her spouse may further amend or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other
alternative documents without the need for authorization or
consent by the spouse; and (4) they will be bound by the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements as amended from time
to time if she has obtained any equity interests, directly or
indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe for whatever
reasons.
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On June 15, 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Beijing JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and
two brothers, signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi
Shareholder Undertaking”) to the effect, among others,
that each of such person unconditionally and irrevocably
(1) confirmed and agreed with the execution of agreements
in connection with the Chile Contractual Arrangements by
Beijing JinChi and (2) agreed to execute any document and
take any action as necessary to fulfill their obligations under
such agreements, including transfer of their equity interests in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2023. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the
year ended December 31, 2023.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis
that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As of
December 31, 2023, we had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating
our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB1,979.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023, representing a decrease
by 9.1% from RMB2,176.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2022. For the year ended December 31, 2023,
the revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries accounted for approximately 94.3% of
the revenue for the year of our Group (2022: 94.6%).
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Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile
co — publishing business as well as online-video distribution
services operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
their respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in the PRC. Since foreign investment in such business
areas in which we currently operate are subject to restrictions
under the current applicable PRC laws and regulations, as advised
by our PRC legal advisor, we determined that it was not viable for
our Company to hold our Consolidated Affiliated Entities directly
through equity ownership. For details of the foreign investment
restrictions relating to the Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements — PRC
Regulatory Background” of the Prospectus and the section headed
“Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” in this
annual report.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business, (2) such transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of our Group, are on normal commercial terms and
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our
Shareholders as a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s
undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by the Company and (b)
the Shareholders’ undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by Mr.
Gao, Mr. Zheng, and all then existing shareholders of our Company
relating to the Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such
undertaking. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual arrangements and any new
transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of existing
agreements to be entered into between any of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group (“New Intergroup
Agreements” and each of them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given
that our Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the
connected transactions rules under the Contractual arrangements,
it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company if such
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among
others, the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements.
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Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign
Investment

On March 15, 2019, the second meeting of the 13th Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress approved the
Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China {(/#
FEAREMBEIEREE)) (the “FIL”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures {(FINEE L& RFEL)), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures {(F /M 1ERE 25%)) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises {(/N&E £25%)) to become the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC. The FIL stipulates
three forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate
the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The FIL stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign
investors invest through any other methods under laws,
administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State
Council.” Therefore, there remains uncertainty regarding whether
future laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed
by the State Council may regard contractual arrangements as a
form of foreign investment, whether our Contractual Arrangements
will be deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment access
requirements and how the Contractual Arrangements will be
handled. Our Company will disclose, as soon as possible, updates
of changes to the FIL that will materially and adversely affect our
Company as and when occur.
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Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

° If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if there are regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, we could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements
and the relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

° Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChilLe or any of their shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

° We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our
PRC Holdcos that are material to our business operations if
our PRC Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially
and adversely affect our business.

° If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

° Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it
may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the
Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation
of our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:
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(@ major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

(b) our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
a year;

(¢) our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

(d) our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company
under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the
Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG
Wei and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan
and Mr. ZHENG Wei, being our Controlling Shareholders until 14
July 20283, and Beijing JinChi, which is a substantial shareholder
of Shanghai ChiLe, are connected persons of our Company under
Rule 14A.07(1) of the Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver
from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of
the Listing Rules, (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less
under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following
conditions:
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no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has
direct shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly
foreign owned enterprise or operating company (including
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements; and

we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@)

the transactions carried out during the year ended December
31, 2023 had been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/
or reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and
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(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s Board;

(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with a series of contractual arrangements disclosed in the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
governing such transactions; and

(¢) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that dividends or other distributions have been
made by Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective
subsidiaries to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company had been in compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company and had not been involved in any material legal
proceedings.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its directors and officers.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Moore CPA Limited resigned as Auditor with effect from 11 March
2024. On 25 March 2024, Elite Partners CPA Limited was appointed
as Auditor to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of
Moore CPA Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of the
next annual general meeting of the Company. For further details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 11 March
2024 and 25 March 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there were no significant events that
might affect the Group subsequent to the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 71 to 88 of this annual
report.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 272 employees as of December 31, 2023, as
compared to 220 employees as of December 31, 2022. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee
benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus and other employee benefits, and is determined
with reference to their experience, qualifications and general market
conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and
competence.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public
float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing
Date and as of the date of this annual report.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the AGM on 24 July 2024, Wednesday. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from 19 July
2024, Friday to 24 July 2024, Wednesday, both days inclusive, in
order to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled
to attend the AGM, during which period no share transfers will be
registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 18 July 2024, Thursday.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the
Shares.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.
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AUDITOR

BDO Limited resigned as the Auditor with effect from 10 November
2023 as the Company and BDO Limited could not reach a
consensus on the audit fee for the year ended 31 December 2023.
BDO Limited confirmed in their letter of resignation to the Company
that there are no matters in connection with its resignation that
need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders of the
Company.

Pursuant to Article 155 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Board, with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee, resolved to appoint Moore CPA Limited as the Auditor
with effect from 10 November 2023, to fill the vacancy following the
resignation of BDO Limited and to hold office until the conclusion of
the next annual general meeting of the Company.

Further, with effect from 11 March 2024, Moore CPA Limited
resigned as the Auditor and the Company’s current Auditor, Elite
Partners CPA Limited, was appointed on 25 March 2024 as the new
Auditor to fill the casual vacancy so arising.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 10 November 2023, 11 March 2024 and 25 March
2024 published on the website of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The accompanying consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with HKFRS have been audited by Elite
Partners CPA Limited.

Elite Partners CPA Limited shall retire at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners
CPA Limited as Auditor will be proposed at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

GAO Dinan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 7 June 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed
in this annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions under the CG Code throughout the Reporting
Period. The Company will continue to review and monitor its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG
Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference which are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in
respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises four
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors
as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. YU Dingyi (appointed on 19 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. ZHENG Wei (resigned on 19 July 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Mr. YU Limin

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing

Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, skills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, culture, race, gender, age and other
qualities. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity
policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Board maintains a gender balance with one female Director
and six male Directors. The Board places tremendous emphasis on
diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels of the Group.
The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced. To support
diversity across all facets, beyond gender, including race and
ethnicity, disability, social mobility and age, the Group is enhancing
diversity and inclusion efforts through employee networks,
mentoring programmes, equitable hiring practices, policies and
awareness raising events and training for all employees to support
inclusive behaviours. Further details on the gender ratio of the
Group and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity across senior
management and the wider workforce, together with relevant data,
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2023 published
on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)
and the Company’s own website (www.wankaonline.com)
according to the Listing Rules.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a
timely manner.

Gender Diversity

The Company recognizes the importance of gender diversity and
recruits employees at all levels based on merits. As of December
31, 2023, female senior management members represented
approximately 43.3% of the senior management of the Company,
and female employees represented approximately 50.4% of the
employees of the Group. The Company will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group, including but
not limited to the Board and the senior management levels.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company recognizes that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited to
entitling the Board and Board committees to seek independent
professional advice on matters relating to the Company where
appropriate at the Company’s expense, to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board has reviewed
the implementation of the mechanisms in relation to the Board
independence and considered it to be effective during the Reporting
Period. The Board will continue to review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism on an annual basis.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development
Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

In accordance with C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate. The
Company also arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.
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Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director.

Name of the Director
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Nature of continuous
professional
development courses

FrEERERIAENE

Executive Directors

WITES

Mr. GAO Dinan

=EBEE

Mr. NIE Xin

BELE

Ms. JIANG Yu

BFut

Mr. YU Dingyi (appointed on 19 July 2023)
FT—%E(R=Z==F+tA+HhBEZME)

Non-executive Director

FHITEE

Mr. ZHENG Wei (resigned on 19 July 2023)
BZAE (RZZE-=Ft A+ BEE)

Independent Non-executive Directors
BIUFHITESE

Mr. CHEN Baoguo

FREE K4

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

SXKEXE

Mr. YU Limin

RAREE

A: attending training provided by lawyers or training related to the
Company’s business

B: obtaining legal advice to understand his obligations as a director of a
listed issuer
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During the Reporting Period, all Directors have complied with the
CG Code in relation to continuous professional development,
apart from reading materials relevant to the Company’s business,
director’s duties and responsibilities. All Directors also attended
and/or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company
updates Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the Company for accurate and
comprehensive record keeping.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. During the Reporting Period, Mr.
GAOQO Dinan served as the chairman of the Board and Ms. JIANG Yu
served as the chief executive officer of the Company.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE
Xin, Ms. JIANG Yu and Mr. YU Dingyi, has entered into a service
contract with the Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023,
20 July 2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively, for an initial term of
three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 27 August 2023,
20 July 2022 and 19 July 2023, respectively.

Mr. YU Dingyi, who has been appointed as an executive Director
during the Reporting Period, has obtained the legal advice from a
firm of solicitors qualified to advise on Hong Kong law as regards
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him
as a director of a listed issuer and the possible consequences of
making a false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange on 19 July 2023, and he has confirmed he understood
his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, for an initial term
of three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 16 September
2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment
and new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board Committee members for information and
records.
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Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/
Board Committee members for comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by
Directors.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the Reporting Period, details of the Directors’ attendance in
the following meetings are set out below:

EEE SR RESZEEERNERLHT
AR ESENRESREEMERNER
RFGERHRE - BFES ESEEER
BERHNEMH[E SESSSRRESE
EEERNTHRERLINBRRAENE R
BITEHMENSERARATRERES &
EREENE  UDBIHREHERREFRE -
EsggRCsIHESEH -

EERBEERZHER
RBEH  ESHUATERZHFERFER
FIET -

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HFEERAY  BAERAY

Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors B2 EZEEs 2EBHREEE 2 FHESE 2 REZEE REEEKE
Executive Directors PTES
Mr. GAO Dinan BEELE 6/6 N/A N/A 22 1/1
TR TEA
Mr. NIE Xin REXE 6/6 N/A 11 N/A 11
TEA TiEA
Ms. JIANG Yu BF¥ut 6/6 N/A N/A N/A 1
TER TER TER
Mr. YU Dingyi FT-%% 212 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 19 July 2023) (R=F==F TEA TER TEA TEA
tATHhREZR)
Non-executive Directors EuTES
Ms. ZHENG Wei (resigned on 19 July 2023) BRE%4E 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11
(R=B==% TER TER TiEA
tAThAEE)
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIIFHITES
Mr. CHEN Baoguo REELE 6/6 33 11 N/A 1/1
TER
Mr. JIN Yongsheng SXERE 6/6 3/3 11 2/2 1/1
Mr. YU Limin FAREE 6/6 3/3 N/A 2/2 11
TR
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Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C8 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision right for all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. The Board recognises that
corporate governance should be the collective responsibility of the
Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2.  toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3 to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
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4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman),
Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors. The primary duties of the Audit Committee
are to review and supervise, and provide an independent view of
the effectiveness of, the financial reporting process and the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, oversee
the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Audit Committee’s duties and powers include, among others:

(i) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment, and/or removal of the external auditor, and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal of that auditor;

(i) monitor the integrity of financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them;

(i) oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures; and

(iv) perform the Company’s corporate governance functions,
including reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, and the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management.
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Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code provides that the terms
of reference of the Audit Committee shall have the terms that the
members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board and
senior management and the Audit Committee must meet at least
twice a year with the Auditor. The Company has included such
terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus complied with the
Code provision D.3.3(e)(i) of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

During the Reporting Period, three Audit Committee meetings were
convened. The Audit Committee had performed the followings
tasks, among others:

1. reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2022 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2023;

2. reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems;

3.  discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

4. reviewed the auditors’ remuneration;

5. reviewed the matters in connection with the change of
auditor;

6. reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to
determine the provision of such services would affect the
independence of the auditors; and

7. performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed
the corporate governance policies and practices.
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, including one executive
Director namely Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) and two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU
Limin. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
without limitation, reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board, reviewing the Board diversity policy, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive directors and
making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment of directors.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity
on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length
of services and time to be devoted as a Director. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall: (i) use open
advertising or the services of external advisors to facilitate the
search; (ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
and (jii) consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria,
taking care that appointees have enough time available to devote to
the position. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee
will then be put to the Board for decision. The written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Nomination Committee meetings
were held. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as
well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng (Chairman)
and Mr. CHEN Baoguo and one executive Director namely Mr. NIE
Xin. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
without limitation, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration,
(i) reviewing and approving performance based remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board, and (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, one Remuneration Committee meeting
was held to review and approve the remuneration of executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 11 to the financial statements for details
of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 27 to 31 of this annual report, for the year ended December
31, 2023 are set out below:

Remuneration band (RMB)
0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000

0-1,000,000
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1,500,001-2,000,000
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 to give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with timely updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 89
to 95 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company has established and maintained adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board delegates its responsibility to the Audit Committee to review
the establishment and practices of management with respect to
risk management and internal control systems formally on a half —
yearly basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the key
risks of the Company, including determining the level of risk the
Company expects and is able to take, and proactively considering,
analyzing and formulating strategies to manage the key risks that
the Company is exposed to. The Audit Committee oversees the
management of the design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The senior management
team also provides all necessary and relevant information to the
Board, giving the Directors sufficient explanation and information
they need to discharge their responsibilities and make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before them
for approval. The internal audit team of the Company has direct
reporting lines to the Audit Committee. These systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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We have designated responsible personnel in the Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by the Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating
to any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted
a set of internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our
employees. We have established a monitoring system to implement
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our
employees comply with our internal rules and policies as well as
the applicable laws and regulations. For example, our management
is responsible for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment
on an annual basis and our Audit Committee reviews and approves
our annual risk assessment results and policies. We have also
identified certain forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, including, among others, the prohibition to
acceptance of bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation
of our assets, and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

Inside Information

The Company has implemented proper procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information,
including, among others, establishing a policy on the disclosure
of inside information to ensure that all current and prospective
investors of the Company, market participants and the public
are provided with appropriate information relating to the Group
in a timely and simultaneous manner. The policy has been
communicated to all relevant staff and related training has also
been provided to them.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure
long-term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s
business. The Company has established a risk management system
which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party
as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes.
Each business group of the Company, on a regular basis,
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively impact the
achievement of its objectives, and formulates appropriate response
measures.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall
risk status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature
and severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.

The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.
The review process comprises, among other things, meetings
with management of business groups, internal audit team, legal
personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work
reports and information of key performance indicators, and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended
December 31, 2023, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by staff
with the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such
staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and development.
Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also
believes that the Company'’s internal audit function is adequate with
sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2023
was approximately as follows:

EREESEMPESSERA LA AERNE
ik WA A D A ERAERIVEER R
ERENES BREREEIARFAFAER
EEXRREENERUEHRERREAE
HNERERREEEEEINERKT

BERZEERRESEHEARNRREER
REEZRL - RANEFEPEFEEZTS
REEEEE  AMEXERE  EZBAEN
RONERBEETEE - ERMEBETHERS
NEREEEREE  UREAQARSHE
EENWEARR BBE-_F-_=F1+=
A=1T—HLEFEMS  ESERAELH
HNEBREERABEZERRERIRIR

o BEBEEM  ADANEITREBR
EHECHAAEEEERERNETRE
17 BRSETICEISEMADKZIR
BR - BENBERZEENTFRE BT
TMEH  ARBFWABELBED LD
ERANERKAE - HEAETIHEEEN
BENER WS TEDNEIIRERE -

A G ke
BE-_Z-_=F+-A=+—-BHLEE
BB P AR ERENEZ R IFFLRBEN
BAOBMESEI T -

Amount

&%

(RMB’000)

Type of Services RFSEER (AR®FT)
Audit and audit related services* B R EZAEBRE 1,800
Non-audit services I EZIRTES =
Total #et 1,800

Note:

*

The amount of audit and audit related services fee comprises the service
fee for the audit of the Group’s 2023 consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company. See the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management - Company Secretary” in this annual report for
the biography of Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson
has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at (www.wankaonline.com), where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. The shareholders’ communication
policy sets out a number of ways to ensure effective and efficient
communication with shareholders is achieved, including but not
limited to our responses to shareholders’ enquiries, corporate
communications (in both English and Chinese, to facilitate
shareholders’ understanding), posting of relevant information on
the Company’s website, shareholders’ meetings and investment
market communications. The Board reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy and
the results were satisfactory.
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The 2023 annual general meeting at which the external auditors
attended will be convened on 24 July 2024. The Board encourages
all its shareholders to participate in the forthcoming AGM where
the members of the Board and external auditors will be present and
communicate with its shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 4/F, Building No. B22, Universal
Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

Amendments to Constitutional Document

There has been no change in the Articles of Association of the
Company during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.

88  Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

SNERBERERE 2 S =FRRBFK
ER-E_ENFLA-TNHEER - EET
SRFFERRSERERRBF RS EF
EFEHERINELEET S HF IR R
B o

R SRAEF
BRMERROFERER > ADAERRE
AELHEERE (BERREES) B2

BIRER ©

RERRASELREZNFERBEERELT
BRALKRERR  REERENERRAE
HTERRBRARDARBR ARG Z -

BHERRFHIXEREERS

REASERAR  RRURAIFRRK
SLRHEZUMER - A —BRALE
ZEEEREAFEA QAN BERNTRA
DNARRAE EREZHERETDRT D
Z—HRR - ERBEREBOESERLA
AEM—EHELARANERLEEER B
REFEERARARRFHIAS - LUIEE
BRERMIANEMNEER - BEAFEAR
EXBBEREMMERRNET - MRNMEXH
AEREANANESSRECHBEBEAS
MERATTRERAABTEARERRX
T MERERALEEZSREAHAE
MELWAESEERERARINERE
RATETEN -

EREBRRUALZEESENER  IRAE
REFREHBEREER -

REEERHES
BERNMMEOESSELEBARQATANES -
ASEEHNTEEANTEI - it BHE
tZHEEEELER 10 EEE K ER22
PEARE o

IEsTER
RESHEREEANFRAY - AATWAE
BERAALESSE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

elite
partners

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 96 to 214, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and Notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of material accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

FAEEE st HIE
HRETSEERBERMANERAE - 5
HAPGEUBRERNEARREENS
o EESHRAHGSMBRRRBBET
EAUERERNE S TETREN - KM
EHELEEREHUEBNER -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A {EAF S

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount before
impairment of the Group’s goodwill was approximately
RMB34,800,000, which is subject to annual impairment
test. Impairment provision is required when the
recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units
(“CGUs”) to which the goodwill is allocated are lower
than the respective carrying values of the respective
CGUs. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
based on the impairment assessment of goodwill,
the Group recognised goodwill impairment of
RMB2,361,000.

RZZBZ=F+ZA=+—H > EEENHEREERD
MEREE X 5 AK¥34,800,000 7T » HEURRESFHH
B EARBRE I ERENREEAEN (RS
EEEBEN ) WAKREESEIREEREEEEVNRE
B EEHRRERE BE-_T-_=F+=RA=+-—
BLEFE SEEENBERENMTEIBEREAR
#£2,361,0007T °

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these
CGUs involved significant management’s estimation,
subjective assumptions and judgements, such as
expected future cash flows from the CGUs, budgeted
gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount
rates, and is sensitive due to business and market
volatility, and uncertain economic outlook.
HZERSECENTRESENGESREEENE
BEfE - TBEBERRAE  flmReEEENNTERT
ARBEERE HEEFE  RABREURIRE -
BELARYAEBRTSRBERKSENS N REEMEM
BHU o

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies, accounting
judgements and estimates and impairment testing
of goodwill are included in Notes 4, 5, and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEHBER - St HEANGTT AR B ERENHANEEIR
BEHN GRS UBRRMTS  5K18°
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We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment testing of goodwill:

EAEEERENHATUTETRF (APEHE)

o we made enquiries of management about
the valuation methodology of the recoverable
amounts and assessed the reasonableness of
the key assumptions underlying the cash flow
forecasts, including revenue growth rate and
budgeted gross margins, and discount rates. We
also made reference to the historical performance
and business plans of the management for the
relevant CGUs. We also took into account the
accuracy of previous budgeting process;

o HMREEEABTARATNESENGERE I
FEERESREEIETERRINSEML  G1EK
ABRER - AEENRURBRE - HKPF2EE
BERERREELEUNBEL RERERE -
BMT-ZERBIRERIBREMNERMYE

° we assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology used by management in the
impairment testing;

e HMILEEERNBEIAPAEARLTENEES
1%

° we evaluated the competence capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the external
valuation specialists engaged by management to
perform the valuation; and

e ERMIMLEEEERBETHENIIMDTEERNR
BE - BED - FEIMRBMM S R

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to the Group’s goodwill impairment test
in the consolidated financial statements.

o EMFMEEENMBHRKRTER BEXEEHBRENR
HNEERERRE °
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B EET R &

FAEEE LT HIE ()

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

FEN RS TR IS B R 1R

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion
of total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2023
and the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. The
Group recognises an allowance based on the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates, such as provision
rates which are based on days past due for customers
that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

R-ZBZ=F+ZA=1+—H  BURENE BEEA
EENEAN, - BEXEEREERR - EXERE

BRMBHREENFOFERMTANERFEERE ([
FEBR]) ZRIRE BAHEEERNAETREA
BERAE KA - PINMERBRREFHEBELEEE
X BAEFEBRERNETFELRESR  UREBA
BENAEEERREERE

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies, accounting
judgements and estimates and impairment of accounts
receivables are included in Notes 4, 5 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BETECR - St A BTG ET SUR FE U BR FOR B 1Y AE B 1
BHNGEMERRMETS - 5K22 -

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment assessment of accounts
receivable:
EMERURRRENFERTUTEFER (AP E
&)

° we obtained an understanding of and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating
to the credit control and collection of accounts
receivable;

o EBMTHRLFTEHEEEEBEEESRIKEEWER
MHRZ R 2SI

° we obtained and assessed management’s
expected credit loss allowance and judgements
on the recoverability of accounts receivable by
examining the information used by management
to establish such judgements and estimates,
such as the historical default information, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

e HMEBKREEEEANUREEBRABRMATNE
B MBEENER - BEAKEMRRRATELE
B BTG EEENTERCEERRERRYE
Wit BR SRR AT LA B 1 9 B

° we tested the ageing analysis and past due
analysis of accounts receivable on sample basis;
we also considered the collection of the accounts
receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period;

e HMHMBNABUIRRNERER D MRREBH DM
x BRMTZRERBMEDREREEBRERTIHN LD
"

° we evaluated the competence capabilities,
objectivity and independence of the external
valuation specialists engaged by management to
perform the valuation; and

o HMFMLEEERBEFETHENMIFAERNR
BE - BED - HEIMRBMM S R

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to the Group’s ECL in the consolidated
financial statements.

e  HMIMLEGESHBHRERTIEE BEXEEHREES
BNRBEREBRRE °
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Other Matters

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 27 March
2023.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate
threats or, safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Chan Wai Nam, William with Practising
Certificate number P05957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower,
33 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong

7 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

FEEER

BE-—E-_=F1+-A=t—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—®=-= —ECCF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARMT T
REVENUE Wi 7 2,098,220 2,300,875
Cost of sales SHERA (1,874,952) (2,066,400)
Gross profit ER 223,268 234,475
Other income and gains HAag A R as 8 17,153 42,718
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHBAX (25,751) (19,372)
Research and development costs fF 3 R AR (80,660) (86,192)
Impairment loss on accounts receivable FEURBRFURE B 18 (18,973) (35,950)
Impairment loss on goodwill BERREEE (2,361) (154,786)
Administrative expenses THAX (50,385) (52,793)
Other expenses and losses HibBiZ k&R (5,976) (5,328)
Share-based payment expenses UM AERNARAS 30 (8,149) (22,192)
Finance costs 2RI %N 10 (10,009) (7,696)
Share of loss in an associate b — B E A REE (3,545) (4,337)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB AR (E5iE) 9 34,612 (111,453)
Income tax expense FSBimx 13 (12,616) (17,105)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FREF(EE) 21,996 (128,558)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR LT EEFERETR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: (E518) -
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETE 2SN 15,488 (129,537)
Non-controlling interest IR iER 32 6,508 979
21,996 (128,558)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AAREBEEREE AR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEREBR(&HE)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (ABBRARBEDIR)
(expressed in RMB per share) 15
Basic A RMBO0.01 (RMB0.09)
AR#®0.015t (AR%0.097T)
Diluted e RMBO0.01 (RMBO0.09)

ARE0.015t (AR%0.097T)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

GEEHBRR

BE-E-_=—F1+-A=t—-HIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—®-= —B-=fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FraAl (E8) 21,996 (128,558)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hig2EWA
Other comprehensive loss that may be FREPETEF I BEEERN
reclassified to profit or loss in Hth2mEEE :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BERIINEREENETER
of foreign operations (3,582) (12,967)
Net other comprehensive loss that FRENETEN S BEEEN
may be reclassified to profit or loss Hitt 2 EEEFEE
in subsequent periods (3,582) (12,967)
Other comprehensive income that will TErE#ERRNERT>EZER
not be reclassified to profit or loss in HEMEEmBA
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation RATIBREEENENZE
of the Company 5,730 22,844
Net other comprehensive income that TEE#ERRER»EZER
will not be reclassified to profit or loss R E At 2 EU A EEE
in subsequent periods 5,730 22,844
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR FREMBEBA @ BRBE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX 2,148 9,877
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FREEBA (EIR) 85
FOR THE YEAR 24,144 (118,681)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) UTEGERAZEIRA
FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: (B1R) 488
Owners of the Company RATEBA 17,636 (119,660)
Non-controlling interest IR 6,508 979
24,144 (118,681)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEUMBRRAR

R-BZ=F+=H=t+—H
As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —E-CF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERZE 16 1,642 2,065
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17(a) 10,947 10,188
Goodwill (S5 18 32,439 34,800
Other intangible assets HitmpEE 19 4,453 7,006
Interest in an associate RN TR 20 - 1,115
Deferred tax assets EREFIEEE 21 13,717 12,135
Prepayments and other deposits ENREREMZRS 23 114,983 58,165
Total non-current assets FREEEAE 178,181 125,474
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 22 680,764 601,259
Prepayments, deposits and other EARIE - BER
receivables Hith e FRIE 23 579,886 571,816
Time deposits with original maturity over  REIEEBB=EAH
three months EHFR 24 2,651 12,637
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHIRITER 24 10,374 61,690
Cash and cash equivalents BHeRBELEEY 24 521,874 538,224
Total current assets REEEAE 1,795,549 1,785,626
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Accounts payable FEFBRFR 25 34,381 52,959
Other payables and accruals H A FRIE R FERT FRIE 26 82,599 74,303
Contract liabilities BHEE 27 21,990 27,833
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s EERITER 28 303,500 260,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 8,514 6,499
Income tax payable FEAS SRt 13 112,909 109,427
Total current liabilities piEIN=REREC] 563,893 531,021
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 1,231,656 1,254,605
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBER
LIABILITIES 1,409,837 1,380,079
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIRRR

REZBZ=F+=A=+—H
As at 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —ECCF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MiEE ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 3,763 5,820
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 21 1,098 1,435
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEERE 4,861 7,255
Net assets EEFH 1,404,976 1,372,824
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners of the RABEE AFELRE
Company
Issued capital EEITRAE 29 1 1
Treasury shares EFRAS =* =
Other reserves Hith 31 1,319,229 1,293,444
Equity attributable to owners of the RN BHEE AELRE
Company 1,319,230 1,298,445
Non-controlling interest R R 32 85,746 79,379
Total equity R 1,404,976 1,372,824
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. * SENEARE,0007T °

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 214 were 296 E214BZ RS BRERLESZTEN =
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 7 EMFESACERMERRENE  WHT

June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by FALTREKEE
Mr. Gao Dinan Mr. Yu Dingyi
BHEBRE FT—%4&
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FEESmBER

BE-ZE-_=H+-A=t+—HLEE

Year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

KAAREAEE
Employee
share-based ~ Stafutory  Exchange Non-
Treasry  Share  Capital compensation  reseve fluctuation  Accumulated controling
shares®  premium*  reserve’ reseve’  funds  resenve” losses®  Sub-tofal interest Total
A
EENEE %R JERD
ERR ROEE EARE  FMRR  GRY BE ZEE 0% FERER 43
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000 RVMBOOD RMB'OO0  RMB'OO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'0O0  RMB000
AEBTn ARETR ARETR  ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETr ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 WZBZZ8-5-5 - 180991 9532 0319 26000 (417800 (475,111) 1,300,913 - 1390913
Loss for e year FRES - - - - - - (BT (9T o9 (128559
Other comprehensiveincome  EREMAEIA :
forthe year:
Bxchangedifferenceson ~ BAERRAATEE
translaion o freign operations B HE 7 28
and the Company - - - - - 9877 - 9817 - 9877
Total comprehensieloss  ERAEHELE
for the year - - - - - 98T (1095%) (19660 919 (f18)
Issue of shares orrestricted AR REIRAE
share units™ ESiT /0 - - - - - - - -
Capitalinection from thenon- - RREFERERAE
controlling inferest - - - - - - - - 78400 78400
Vested resticted share units ~ EZFESZEEE
tansforredtoemployees  RRARAED - 18158 - (18,159) - - - - - -
Equity-setledshareoption - A ERESNERERS
amangements - - - 219 - - - 219 - 219
At 31 December 2022 o
tZA=1-A - 1,628,109 9,532 66353 26000 (31903 (604648) 1,203445 79319 137282

& The amount is less than RMB1,000.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of

RMB1,293,444,000 (2021: RMB1,390,912,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

M 0On 10 May 2022, 40,800,000 new shares of US$0.0000002 (equivalent
to approximately RMB0.0000013) each were issued and allotted at par
value pursuant to the general mandate for the restricted share units
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated

28 April 2022 and 10 May 2022.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEHEEEER

BE_Z_=F+-A=+t—HLEFE

Year ended 31 December 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATRENES
Employee
share-based  Statutory Exchange Non-
Issued  Treasury  Share  Capital compensation reserve fluctuation Accumulated controlling
capital  Shares’ premium*  reserve* reserve*  funds*  reserve* losses*  Sub-total interest Total
WitfE

BEmEE iR MERD
EMfils ERRG BBEE RAGE  RNGR  GRe  BR RIER O dERER 4t
Note RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOX ~ RMBOX RMBUX RMBOO  RMBOX RMBUX RMBO0) RMBOM
Wit ARRTR ARRTR ARBTR ARMTR  ARRTR ARRIR ARMTR ARRTR ARNFR ARRFR ARRTR

At1 January 2023 WN-B2=F-5-A 1 - 188109 95% 66,353 26001 (31900)  (604648) 1203445 79379 137282
Profiforthe year A - - - - - - - 1548 15488 6508 21096
Other comprehensiveincome  EREMZEA :

forthe year:

Bichangedifferenceson ~ SAEKRANTEE
translaton offoreign operations EME R £
and the Company - - - - - - 2,148 - 2148 - 2,148

Total comprehensiveincome ~ ERZENALE
forthe year - - - - - - 2,148 15488 17,36 6,508 24,144

Dividend paidtothenon- I ERERZARE

controlling interest - - - - - - - - - (141) (149)
Vested restricted shareunits ~ EFFESZEER
tensfered toemployees ~ RRARHEN - - 18070 - (18,070) - - - - - -
Equity-setled shareopion - JAEREEBRE
amangements g 30 - - - - 8,149 - - -8 - W
At 31 December 2023 . w3
tZA=1- 1 - 1,846,179 9,532 56432 26,001 (20795  (589,160) 1319230 85,746 1,404,976
8 The amount is less than RMB1,000. e SEERARK1,0007T °
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * ZERERE PRESMBRARALGEER
RMB1,319,229,000 (2022: RMB1,293,444,000) in the consolidated b ik A R #1,319,229,000t (ZE ==
statement of financial position. F : AR%1,293,444,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ZRELRER

BE-—E-_=F1+-A=t—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—¥-= —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARMT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& FEHESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BRELADSF (E518) 34,612 (111,453)
Adjustments for: MUTREELHRE
Foreign exchange gain, net PN G - 2
Finance costs RS RR A 10,009 7,696
Bank interest income RITREWA (1,714) (1,045)
Impairment loss on accounts receivable FEUNBRFUR (B8 18,973 35,950
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #J3 - BiERRIETE 855 356
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 7,087 6,326
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 2,553 7,229
Gain on derecoghnition of lease HERIERRES - (22)
Share of loss in an associate o —RBEE QA T EE 3,545 4,337
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 2,361 154,786
Derecognition of accounts payable 1R IE AR TR - (20,965)
Share-based payment expenses DA BERNARFEX 8,149 22,192
Increase in accounts receivable FEURBRFRIE AN 86,430 105,385
Increase in prepayments, deposits and AR ~ ke R HAEWFIE
other receivables B2yl (98,478) (36,458)
(8,070) (21,565)
Increase in long-term prepayments and REFENFIER RS2
other deposits (19,837) (15,490)
Decrease in accounts payable BRI (18,578) (31,073)
Decrease in contract liabilities EHREERD (5,843) (2,011)
Increase in other payables and accruals H fth A FRIE K FERT FOEIE h0 8,401 21,235
Cash (used in)/generated from operations EE (TR FisEs (55,975) 20,023
Interest received 2 UFE 1,714 410
Income tax paid 2R (11,053) (11,065)
Net cash flows (used in)/generated from KEEE (FTA), FBRe
operating activities TEFHE (65,314) 9,368
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

o \éiﬁﬁiﬁ% X

BE-E-_=—F1+-A=t—-HIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2023

2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES ®EFEHEESRE
Prepayment for acquisition of subsidiaries BB B A B FE(SFRIE (25,131) (2,584)
Prepayment for acquisition of equity B R R ETRIRIE
investment (11,850) -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE BMERBBWAEBR
and equipment 1] 1 7
Purchase of items of property, plant and BEYX  BERZKBER
equipment (430) (750)
Decrease/(increase) in time deposits with RRH BB =188 NEHRER
original maturity over three months WA () 9,986 (12,637)
Capital injection into an associate EE—EHE AT (2,430) (3,430)
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETEFTARESREFEE (29,854) (19,394)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEFEHBEESRE
Drawdown of bank loans REURITER 443,520 350,353
Repayment of bank loans ERIRITEMR (400,020) (262,000)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNEEED (7,891) (3,559)
Capital injection from non-controlling interest  JFIEMRIEZTE - 78,400
Interest paid on bank borrowings 2HRITERIE (9,043) (7,187)
Interest paid on lease liabilities 2HEEEERE (1,071) (827)
Dividend paid 2NRE (141) =
Decrease/(increase) of restricted bank deposits ZBR&EISRITEFURL (L 0) 51,316 (17,909)
Net cash flows from financing activities MEETHBIRESRE T 76,670 137,271
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND BeRELEEY (RL) 15
CASH EQUIVALENTS IFEEE (18,498) 127,245
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ & RELEEY 538,224 401,102
Net foreign exchange difference THINE Z= KR 2,148 9,877
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAERREEEY
AT END OF YEAR 521,874 538,224
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R & KR &S EW 547
Cash and bank balances HERIRITERR 521,874 538,224
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the FEMBRARREGESRERE
consolidated statement of financial position KIREERREEEY
and consolidated statement of cash flows 521,874 538,224

=
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November
2014. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands, and principal place of business is 4th Floor, Building
No. B22, Universal Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC. The Company, together with
its subsidiaries, is collectively referred to as the Group.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 21 December
2018.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, including
controlled structured entities, were mainly involved in
the provision of mobile advertising services, online-video
distribution services, game co-publishing services and
software maintenance services.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate controlling party of
the Group is Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly owned
by Mr. Gao Dinan.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Notes to the Financial Statements

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:

Name

&

Wanka Holdings Limited

ERERAR

Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*A
(“Wanka Huanju”)

TMEB UL ER (IR) BRARA
([TmE)

Structured entities:

ERitER

Huanju Times Culture Media
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*
(‘Huanju Times")

BBRAERE (XX FRAF"
(§ =2

Beijing Jingzhe Century
Information Technology
Co., Ltd.*

TRRREEEERMERAR

Hui Times Information Technology
Service (Jilin) Co., Ltd.*

SRAEESRMRE (EH) ARAT

Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Hainan) Co., Ltd.*
TMER LB (55) BRAF"

Wanka Huanju Culture Media
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.”
TMER LR (X2 BRAR"

Place and date of incorporation/
registration and place of
operations

MR ERHR

BRIUARE R

Hong Kong
6 June 2014
A
ZE-mERAKRA
People’s Republic of China
(‘PRC")/Mainland China
10 October 2014
HEARLAE
(TR ])/ B AR
“2-mE+ATA

PRC/Mainland China
7 March 2014

e/ RE KR
“Z-ME=R+tHA

PRC/Mainland China
15 November 2006

FE/ FEAE
ZZ35ET-ATEA
PRC/Mainland China
31 December 2019
e/ EAKE
ZE-MEtA=t-A
PRC/Mainland China
1 June 2017
FE/ EARE
“E2—tExA-H
PRC/Mainland China
9 June 2017
e/ EAKE
“E2—tERANA

Nominal value

of issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
EBTLE/
aMRAEE

HKS1
18T

US$100,000,000

100,000,000% 7T

RMB10,000,000

AR#10,000,0007

RMB1,000,000

AE#1,000,0007
RMB1,000,000
AR%1,000,0007
RMBS5,000,000
ARE5,000,0007%
RMBS5,000,000

AK#5,000,0007C

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

AT REEEE (&)

MBASIRAEREE
AAANEEHEA TN ERHW
T :

Percentage of
equity attributable to
the Company
KA EIEAERAELL I
Direct Indirect

B 3

Principal
activities

EX-£ 3

100 - Investment holding

REER

Mobile advertising
services

BORERS

= Note 1 Mobile advertising

services

M1 BRRERE

- Note2  Mobile advertising
services and game
co-publishing
services

BBREERER RN
B

Game co-publishing
services

EEBERS

a2

= Note 2

a2

- Note2  Mobile advertising
services

WE2 BBRERB

= Note2  Mobile advertising
services

Wit2 BBRERE

SE-ZFH BEWMEHAERAT 105



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

AT REEEE (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued) it B AT RYHEEAE S (&)
Nominal value Percentage of
Place and date of incorporation/  of issued ordinary/ equity attributable to
registration and place of registered the Company Principal
Name operations share capital AATIREGRRHELL Bl activities
B RS R BHTEE/ Direct Indirect FEEH
A BEDREEE EMRAEE Ef Gt
Sichuan Wanka Huanju Culture PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
Media Co., Ltd.* 17 November 2017 services
(“Sichuan Wanka")
M) EE R B RER AR e/ EAKE AE#5,000,0007 W2 BEESRE
(Tl 5 ) “B—tEr-AttA
Suzhou Longying Software PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
Development Co., Ltd.* 28 September 2017 services
(“Suzhou Longying”)
ENERRAEEERAR e/ EAKE AR#100,000,0007C W2 BEESRE
(& Mee ) “EB—tEAA=T/R
Shanghai ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMB40,816,327 - Note 1  Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 18 June 2014 distribution services
(“Shanghai ChiLe")
St e NG ERAR" e/ EAKE AE#40,816,327 7 M1 BEREERIRRE
([Lgig]) “E2-MmEXRATNA
Xinjiang ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - Note 3  Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 26 September 2016 distribution services
FENACEREERAF e/ REKRE AR#5,000,0007 M3 BEREERIRRE
ZE-REAASTRA
Shanghai Langdao Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - Note 3  Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 27 July 2016 distribution services
DERERENEERAR e/ EAKE AE#10,000,0007 M3 BEREERIRRE
“Z-R"EtA-ttA
Beijing ChiLe Information PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - Note 3  Online-video
Technology Co., Ltd.* 14 July 2021 distribution services
R EREERA R FE/ EARE AEK#10,000,0007C M3 BEREERIRRE
“B--EtATMA
Zhonghe Channels Management PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - Note1  Software maintenance
Co., Ltd* (Zhonghe”) 28 December 2016 services
PRREERERAR (A ) e/ EAKE AR#100,000,0007C W1 BAERRE
ZE-REtZAZTNA
Suzhou Jinglan Cloud Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB81,600,000 - Note2  Game co-publishing
Co., Ltd.* 9 September 2022 services
HENERENRBRAR" e/ EAKE AE#81,600,0007 W2  EEEERE
“ECCEAANA
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E=ZF+ZA=t—H
31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ABERKREEE (&)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) B AT RHEEAER (&)
Note 1: Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe were set up under PRC laws ekl : BEBRAR R LB IRER R
and were controlled by the Company through Wanka Huanju via EEMEN - WHRARABIBIT
a series of contractual arrangements. ME R B R — YKL P iE
il o
Note 2: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership fizk2 : AARWEEEZEIFERZEE
of these entities which were set up under PRC laws and BhERLIEMARE  MZEE
were controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These BRI BEE R MR - WA
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times. ZKE BB REAmED o %
ZRRABBERARNZENEA
e
Note 3: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership MizE3 : AARWEEEZEIMERZEE
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and were BhERLEMARE  MZEE
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChilLe. These BRI BEE R MR - WA
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai ChiLe. ZKE B\ LM miEs o %
ERNAALEHENEEWNBA
e
B
The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report represent * ARG FTIR MR Z M B A Rl B
management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the EEEENBREPXEBOE
subsidiaries, as no English names have been registered. R RAZKRGFMERECETE -
This company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise " ZABIEIREREAEE R AN EE
under PRC law. B -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, AR ESRABAEBFEEHE
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results ,Eiﬁﬁki HERNEREEFEETEL
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets DA RTMBAR - EERAINEHE
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in B ARZHFBESARRAENT
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive Ro

length.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership
of companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the
Company controls certain subsidiaries through contractual
arrangements. In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (the “2014 Contractual Arrangements”)
with Huanju Times and its registered shareholders which
were further updated in 2016 (the “2016 Contractual
Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai ChiLe’s registered shareholders entered into a set
of contractual arrangements dated 9 March 2018, namely the
ChiLe Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in
2018, (i) Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018; and (ii) Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai
ChiLe’s registered shareholders entered into a new set of
contractual arrangements, namely the New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, which superseded and replaced the ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, have enabled the Group to conduct
businesses in the PRC in industries that are subject to foreign
investment restrictions in Mainland China, and enable Wanka
Huanju to:

1)  govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChilLe, and their subsidiaries;

2) exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

3) receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and
their subsidiaries as consideration for the business
support, technical and consulting services provided by
Wanka Huanju;

4)  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe from the respective registered
shareholders at a minimum purchase price when it is
permitted under laws and regulations in Mainland China.
Wanka Huanju can exercise such options at any time
until it has acquired all equity interests of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

5)  Obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid
for the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.

1.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from
its involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and
their subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and
consolidated the assets, liabilities and results of operations
of Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).

Basis of measurement and presentation
currencies

The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). All values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a)

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after
January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
for the first time, which are relevant to the Group’s
operations and effective for the consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 January
2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to HKFRS 17)

BEEMEHREENE17HE (BE_2-2F
TAR=E-_—F_AEBMBEREER
F179R2187])

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

BRETTERF1 R A BB REE
NEFE2R2IEFT

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERIEST 2185

Amendments to HKAS 12

REEEH

RIER

3.

B HRRE

RNBEUBRERA(F
AR EEA D)

(a)

Insurance Contracts

N-F-=F—H5iZ&HiE
B ERIE A GBI ET R & 1E
I EAEMTEHREER
AEERKIEEGREATIE
BETE A =AM RS
I EBISHREER - HEARE
EEKERIR _—_ZE_=F—A#
—HHBENEEHENGES TS
MEREN :

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Definition of Accounting Estimates
i TR

Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities arising

from a Single Transaction

BBGTERIE 1258 2185
ERER IR

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB ERIE 1258 2185

Except as described below, the application of the above
new and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
had no material effect on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the Notes
to the consolidated financial statements so as not to
obscure the material accounting policy information
disclosed in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

Revised HKFRSs that are issued but not yet
effective

At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the following amended standards have
been published but are not yet effective, and have not
been early adopted by the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1
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3. RNEEMBREENTE
AUBmEEA ) (&)

(b)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or

EMEMEERERIEIETE
AR REER
RESVBBRERELIHCHE
B RERBARELEIER
BRA 2 RUSET RN T

Effective for the
accounting period
beginning on or after
RUT B ERIEZ
BEtHIE &N

1 January 2024

Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

BBETHERE15 28R

HEEDEARBIIERB UREBRE

S5 (ZT2FF) WA

Amendments to HKAS 1
ERGHERE1H 2185
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BB REERIE 1655 2187
Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
BB EAETEREBMIER
HEERIE 7R 2187
Amendments to HKAS 21
ERETHERE2158 2185
Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

M ZONERBRE

EXOENEESR

HEEBME L

Lack of Exchangeability

R= At

Joint Venture

BRPBBREEAF10RREEE REFEABELTARS

RIS 285 2187 EHETEE

The Directors anticipate that all of the applicable
pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s
accounting policy for the first period beginning on
or after the effective date of the pronouncement.
The amended HKFRSs and interpretation are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the
foreseeable future transactions.

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Supplier Finance Arrangement

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or

BhECENE

“ERC=FH% BNSHARAT

—ZE-MmF¥—-A—H

1 January 2024

“ECNE-A—H
1 January 2024
“E-NE—-F—H

1 January 2024

—E-_NFE—-HF—H

1 January 2025
—Z2-HF¥—HA—H
To be determined
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long-term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interest and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other
assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or
groups of units.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognhised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised at fair values
in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels
in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

EXETBk (&)

FERBEERE (H)
EEEENREEBEH A WE S HEE
FERARMEREE N EEREE
B o At RRREMEIR T R E WERF
BEEKEEREERNER TS
MBRRBRERE - BEBERESE
HEAERRRTIIALREEENEE
RE—EBIHFX -

AEERZHRENARFLEEENRE
NRERANBEBE TN EFESEM
A o A - RIFHE AW EIEEE -
EERANBEEEET D SRR (G
EREE TUEELNREE (B8
BROM) BRRBERR - EEERNE
BTSERNERAETFELEEREE
REE R RS W AREE (HIBREMHT
B ) - AERESENERRE
LB ABRE -

“ZO=FHR BNSHARAT 117



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 3 years
Transportation equipment 4 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter of
the estimated economic lives and the licensed period or their
duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated as 3 years.

Software copyright

Software copyright is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired
as part of business combination of Shanghai ChiLe and
Zhonghe.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination
Customer relationship is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a
portfolio of customers or a market share and expects that,
because of its efforts in building customer relationship and
loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with Shanghai
ChiLe. The customer relationship is determined by an external
valuer, stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any
impairment losses subsequently, and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
during which benefits will be derived from the customer
relationship to the Group.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software
or other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

®)

©

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

120 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

EXEBUR (8)

HE

FEEEBREAN
AEERAAHRERRE - BARTE
7k EERAEREEEEEHEER
S o AEEEAEERBEMEHAEN
;o MEREEEEEREBREENE
e

@ EAREE
EHEEENEERM®B A S (B
MHEEETHEAER) B -
EREEERBABEMRH
ENREBETE  IREMNE
HrBEHEREEHRAR - EH
REENREENARR MG AE
REH (UBEERE) RERE

WE W :
I NELE S 2E5F

b)) HEEE
HEEBEREEM B HIREE
HAEEENBENRNRER

N
B

EFEHEMRNRER AR
HEFFRENFRFSHEE
A E fE MBS B HHVE

BERFER -

FEENHEERBERPBHMRRE
BEBE5 -

) HHHEEREBEELZEHES
REEHAEYEXEHEE (BE
BB AME R BER12(E
FUTHALEBEE) EAESH
HE®RIHRE  TREEEEE
NHEENERRREAZRER
BENRIRERETASHDN
HE -

HHEREEEEEHENHE
ENFRRAEHRREREER
1ERAZ



Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group rebutted the presumption of a financial asset has
increased credit risk significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due based on the customers’ past payment history and
current ability of making payments. The Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 1 year past due. The Group rebutted the
presumption of default under ECL model for a financial asset
over 90 days past due based on the customers’ past payment
history and continuous business with the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

General approach

However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalment or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services,
game co-publishing services and software maintenance
services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

(1)  Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to its
customers and revenue is recognised over the period
that services are provided. Revenue from mobile
advertising services is recognised based on actual
performance measurement. The Group recognises the
revenue from the delivery of the advertising services on
the following performance measurement bases: (i) per-
click when the users click on the advertisement, (i) per-
impression when the advertising are displayed to users;
or (iii) per-download when the third-party apps are
downloaded by users.

The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the
principal or agent in the transaction. The Group is
a principal in a transaction if the Group controls
the services provided before they are provided to
customers. If control is unclear, the Group considers
whether it is primarily obligated in a transaction, is
subject to inventory risk or has latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers. The Group records
revenue on a gross basis when the Group assessed
itself acting as the principal in the transaction; otherwise,
it records revenue on a net basis.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(2)  Online-video distribution services
Sales of video content

The Group purchases short videos from content
providers and uploads the purchased short videos to
video platforms after integrating and optimising the
videos to meet public demand in order to attract public
attention to the video works and thereby increase
the popularity of the video platforms, and the video
platforms settle the revenue to the Group based on the

number of views of the videos.

The Group acts as the principal in these arrangements
and therefore recognises revenue earned and costs
incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis.

(3)  Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers
and distribution platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged,
to the Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds
received by the Group is calculated based on the
standard price of in-game virtual currency sold and the
agreed sharing ratio in the contracts signed with third-

party game distribution platforms.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

3

Game co-publishing services (continued)

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and
payment channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling game and
service specifications and pricing, the Group considers
itself as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the mobile game revenue on a gross
basis and revenue is recognised only when the in-
game virtual items are purchased and consumed by the
players, and the commission fees paid to distribution
platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer
(if any) are recorded as cost of revenues. When the
Group’s responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion service, the
Group views game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in
the arrangements with game players. Accordingly, the
Group records the game publishing service revenue, net
of amounts paid to game developers.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(4) Software maintenance services
Software maintenance service income received or
receivable from customers with whom the Group
has entered into maintenance service contracts is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
maintenance service contract.

Service income is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are rendered. The service mainly
represented by two types of contracts. For the service
contract relates to routine services, the Group provided
the routine work as agreed in the contract and charge a
monthly fee. The service income will be recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contract terms as the work is
performed. As the services are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer, such kind of service
income is recognised over time under HKFRS 15.

For services that are provided on ad-hoc basis (one-
off contract), service charge is entitled to the Group
when the agreed services completed. Ad-hoc services
normally completed within a few hours or a few days.
Service income is recognised upon completion of
the provision of such ad-hoc services. The Group
recognised the service income at a point in time under
HKFRS 15 when the customers obtain the control of the
distinct services.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Conference service income is recognised at point in time

when the services are provided. The customer confirmed the
services by signing the acceptance confirmation.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).

Employee benefits

(a)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by either the
relevant authorities or the local municipal governments
of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of
its employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the statements of profit or loss as incurred.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operates two employees’ share incentive
schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). Pursuant to the restricted share plan
(“RSU Plan”), the restricted shares units are used as the
settlement instrument of the employee benefits in the
share-based compensation scheme, under which the
vesting condition has been fulfilment of certain service
period.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
as employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)
Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of
the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

4. EXEBUIR (&)

EE#&EF (&)

(b)

VAR 3 B B EE B BT B ()
BEERBRZL BN TER
WEEZBRBERIFDEREMRK
o R AR AR A B9 T BEME AT E
ARAEEHERKEBERTA
BENRELTH—HD - W5
RBRERRAR S B D F
18 - MY %P 52 BB 30 SR AR BE AR 7%
SRR BRI WA R IF
BRI o SEEBRERERN
DNFERR - BEEHERZH
®E BRETRERBR K
BRERI S BRI o

TEREREERET SRR
B/ SBRES R4 1T B B S 4R 30 S
BENRBEIMX - HREBE
EmSSERERS - AIRSW
RARCRE  MARHENFER
BIREREER  AIRAMAH
RREKR RBREEERCE
B o

fief LA 328 45 S B 52 B O AR TR AR AE
AIMBRNEERRESEN
B & AR R MR EAB T
HIBASE o bbSh - M fEAERT B3
LURD B ER A FRPMERT B B
STEN A FELREEE MY
BEAA - AISZSETEIR
% o

ToZFR EMEHAERAT 135



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation scheme (continued)
Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share when applicable.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are
recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interest as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial information
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered
to have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders
are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and are legally binding and enforceable.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group
to make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group controls the services
provided before they are provided to customers. If control
is unclear, the Group has to consider whether it is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has
latitude in establishing prices. The Group records revenue on
a gross basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis. The judgement
of revenue recognition on gross versus net basis is based on
continuing assessment of the above factors on a transaction
basis. The Group records revenue from mobile advertising
services and online-video services on a gross basis and
reports the game co-publishing services on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group has unrecognised
tax losses of RMB44,132,000 (2022: RMB38,096,000) that are
available for offsetting against its future taxable profits as at
31 December 2023. Further details are included in Note 21 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill before
impairment at 31 December 2023 was RMB34,800,000 (2022:
RMB189,586,000). During the year ended 31 December 2023,
based on the impairment assessment of goodwill, the Group
recognised goodwill impairment of RMB2,361,000 (2022:
RMB154,786,000). Further details are given in Note 18 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information (i.e., gross domestic products). At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts
receivable (continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in
Note 22 to the financial statements.

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Recognition of employee benefit expense for restricted
share unit (“RSU”) granted

The Group operates two share incentive schemes, i.e.,
the 2016 and 2019 Share Incentive Scheme, under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company, for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including executive and non-executive directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, which are equity-settled transactions. The
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for RSU
granted should be measured by reference to the fair value
of the RSU at the grant date and the replacement date. The
cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled. The fair values of RSUs
granted before IPO period were valued using the Hull White
Enhanced RSO Valuation model and the fair values of RSUs
granted after IPO period were valued the quoted price of the
Company’s shares as at each grant date.

142 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

EX =T HEN R T (&)

TR EEREE (B)

B 1% H 52 BR 1 B 193 BE k. ([ 52 PR I B%
1EEQ |) FERR ESEFIBEZ
AEEELHERDBEE (=%
—"ERZZ-AERMHBEE)
BUHESRUEREEALTATARERT
B (ZREBRDEN) WRE BEER
AREELENANELERNEGER
ZHEEREEBNED - AEEHNES
(BREATEFEYUTES) URHAE
BN ESRE - BB AER
HEENRS - BIRHZREIRMDELT
BESETHUEREENR SR
ZEERAZREBRHMEMARE AR
BRAHEANQAFENE - LERE
ENRGHWRABEEENEELRS
REZRBR /RRISFAE KRB
AAMEERABI X ER - REXR DB
E R R H 1932 BR 5 IR (D ALY A F
& T3 1E AHull White#g 38 RSOfLE#EH
ETHE - MREXARBEHREER
92 BRI (0 BB AL BV N FETI AR D
FARERE B RO NREETHEE



Notes to the Financial Statements

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the executive officer of the Group,
the chief operating decision-maker, that are used to make
strategic decision.

The Group has four reportable and operating segments. The
segments are managed separately as each business offers
different services and requires different business strategies.
The following summary describes the operations in each of
the Group’s reportable segments:

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

6. PEPEHFE
AEERBEAEENSSTHAS - =
ERERE BB A M ER R

MBmEBEELL D -

REEANE2BREEDE - BRE
EEBEHTBRNRERFEZTENE
BRI > WO RERE - UTHMAER
BREDEHNEE -

Mobile advertising services

BEESRE DB
Online-video distribution services

MR IAE M D B IR 2 &P
Game co-publishing services

ik c

Software maintenance services

B e RS

Mobile advertising service income generated from marketers
by rendering the advertising services through contents sorting
and delivery on mobile distribution channels;

EHEBEBAR D ERNBE D HREXVESREMELNS
BEERBWA

Provision of promotion of video content by video content
providers on distribution channels;
BIENBHEREDHREEBREAS

Provision of game co-publishing services, with income
generated from mobile game users for the game-co-publishing
services; and
REBSBENBAELEABERBERBNBEEREAF | &
Software maintenance service income generated from service
rendered.

RERIETEE MR AERRIBUN o

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
revenue and segment cost of sales of each operating
segment. The selling and distribution expenses, research
and development costs and administrative expenses are not
included in the measure of the segments’ performance which
is used by management as a basis for purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment. Other income and
gains, other expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based
payment expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds,
fair value losses on preferred shares, fair value losses on
warrants, fair value losses on convertible bonds and income
tax expense are also not allocated to individual operating
segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to
management is measured as segment revenue, which is
the revenue derived from the customers in each segment.
Our suppliers include smartphone manufacturers and
non-smartphone manufacturer distribution channel suppliers,
primarily including third party mobile app marketplaces
and mobile news and social media content platforms (the
“Distribution Channels”). Cost of sales primarily represents
distribution expenses paid to the Distribution Channels which
amounted to RMB1,864,231,000 (2022: RMB2,050,518,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Other information, together with the segment information,
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent
with that applied in the financial statements. There are no
separate segment assets and segment liabilities information
provided to management, as management does not use
this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.

The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

6. SEREF (/&)
BERERHANEMENER S BER
150 PR BR B T Rk FT P A 3B — RV 7 (AT
B UHEAEEERHEBNINEE
koA EER  BEEREL A ERZ
LERDBERRTEEEDARE -

MEBE-E-_=FR-ZF-__F+°H8
=t+t—HBLEFENDBREZENT :

2023 2022
—EC= —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T

Type of goods or services: B mEARIEAER
Mobile advertising services income BEESRFWA 1,997,751 2,196,736
Online-video distribution services income MERIEE M D BIRB WA 56,583 84,525
Game co-publishing services income 7 R B R A UL 4,314 5,512
Software maintenance services income B HEERRIE R 39,572 14,102
Total revenue from contracts with customers ZEFE&AHAURE 2,098,220 2,300,875

The analysis of revenue of the Group presented below is
disaggregated by the timing of revenue, based on whether
revenue is recognised on a point in time and over time basis.
Revenue is recognised on over time basis as the Group’s
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.

T X 25094 K BB W s 2 A T 3R s B
B (RE W DR E B R ES EER)
2 - WEBEREER  FEAREENE
FRASEEARERIE R EEAEEE
KRR -

2023 2022
—F=-= —EB-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T

Timing of revenue recognition: W R TERARER
Services transferred at a point in time 15 H A RS B E R AR 7S 56,583 84,957
Services transferred over time B B RS B Y AR 7S 2,041,637 2,215,918
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F& A HELYK 2,098,220 2,300,875

The Group usually grants a credit period of 30-90 days to
its customers and recognises the revenue from the delivery
of the advertising services on the following performance
measurement bases: (i) per-click when the users click on the
advertisement, (ii) per-impression when the advertising are
displayed to users; or (iii) per-download when the third-party
apps are downloaded by users. There is no obligation for
refunds or other guarantees.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment results for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 are as follows:

Notes to the Financial Statements

6.

A ¥5 R R Mt ot

—EB_=F+-H=+-—H
31 December 2023

HEREF} ()
BE-B-=6R-EB-—Ft+=A=
T—HIEFENDBEZNT :

Mobile Online-video Game Software
advertising distribution co-publishing maintenance
services services services service Total
BRhRER
BEEERE e RIS Bt RS @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
NREFT ARETT ARBTT ARETT NREFT
For the year ended HEZB-=E
31 December 2023 TZB=t-ALEE

Segment revenue AHlE 1,997,751 56,583 4314 39,572 2,098,220
Segment cost of sales PHEERA (1,804,741) (39,024) - (31,187) (1,874,05)
Segment results PHEE 193,010 17,559 4314 8,385 223,268
Other income and gains Bl AR 17,153
Selling and distribution expenses ~ HER2HHEX (25,751)
Research and development costs &R (80,660

Impairment loss on accounts RUETHESSE
receivable (18,973)
Impaiment loss on goodul HERERE (2,361)
Administrative expenses TR (50,385)
Other expenses and losses AT RER (5,976)
Share-based payment expenses  ARGPBEBNMTER (8,149)
Finance costs IR (10,009)
Share of loss in an associate MEBELNTER (3,945)
Profit before tax BBt AR 34,612
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. PEPEHE(E)
Mobile Online-video Game Software
advertising distribution co-publishing maintenance
services services services service Total
REBRER
BEREHRE PREE EEBERE BHEERE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AEETT
For the year ended HEZE- o
31 December 2022 T2AZT-BLFE

Segment revenue 2k 2,196,736 84,525 5512 14,102 2,300,875
Segment cost of sales PHEERA (1,989,716) (64,425) - (12,259) (2,066,400)
Segment results PRRE 207,020 20,100 5512 1,843 234,475
Other income and gains AR b 2718
Selling and distribution expenses  HER DR (19,372)
Research and development costs ~ FFE R (86,192)

Impairment loss on accounts RS A ERE
receivable (35,950)
Impaiment loss on goodul HENEEE (154,786)
Administrative expenses (:GE (52,799)
Other expenses and losses AMELRER (5,328)
Share-based payment expenses  ARGBERHAFES (22,199)
Finance costs HBRA (7,69)
Share of loss in an associate MBELAFR (4,337)
Loss before tax AR (111,459)

The Group has no major customers which contributed
more than 10% of the total revenue for the years ended 31

REENWEBEE-_S-_—ER-_E-—F1+
ZREt-BLEFEERBBEKE10%H

December 2023 and 2022.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and earns
substantially all of the revenue from external customers

located in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, substantially all of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in Mainland

China.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the income from its principal activities. Revenue recognised
during the year are as follows:

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

7. Wz

WA (FENAREENEERE) EREE
FTEEBHWA - RFRERH WS

T
2023 2022

—EC-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Revenue from contracts with customers BB IR ER|FE 155580 F

within the scope of HKFRS 15: AREEFEHMER
Mobile advertising services income BEEEREBA 1,997,751 2,196,736
Online-video distribution services income #B#&1R A= im0 2 ARSI A 56,583 84,525
Game co-publishing services income iz SR B 2 AR A U A 4,314 5,512
Software maintenance services income  ER{FAEERRIEUIRA 39,572 14,102
2,098,220 2,300,875

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition is disclosed in Note 6.

The following table provides information about accounts
receivable and contract liabilities from contracts with
customers.

Accounts receivable (Note 22) FEUSBRSR (MiRE22)
Contract liabilities (Note 27) EHEE (fE27)

BWERREBIMRETF SO RER
MiZE6HEER ©

TREHBURRREFSONSHNEEN

2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FR ARBTT

680,764 601,259
21,990 27,833

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance
consideration received from customers. RMB27,833,000
of the contract liabilities as of 1 January 2023 has been
recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which is primarily related to the Group’s performance of
services under the related contracts that were satisfied during
the year.

EHEBETEHERKEFPWBMNESRES
B-BHE_Z_=F—A—HMEHNEEA
R#27,833,000 tEREBE=-ZE-_=F1+=
A=1t—HALEEREIEKE  HEFEHERK
SEREFABESORTHWENRE SR -

T_=F BNSHERAT 147



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

8.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

8. HAUr A Rerax
HA AR BT -

2023 2022
== —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR AR¥ET T
Other income from contracts with customers, & &E B EIRE%EA
within the scope of HKFRS 15: 15 EEEF SN
HAA -
Conference service income, net (Note (a)) SRRV AEEE (@) 5,880 4,935
Bank interest income RITRIE WA 1,714 1,045
Government grants (Note (b)) BT AL (MR (b)) 722 334
Foreign exchange gain, net HPE W s F R - 2
Additional deduction for value added AR EEIMTRE (FEE ()
tax (Note (b)) 8,562 14,118
Derecognition of accounts payable (Note (c))  #R IEFEFRFE(TBRFR (Fi5E(c)) - 20,965
Others Hith 275 1,319
11,273 37,783
17,153 42,718
Notes: PRy -
() All the conference service income of the Group is recognised at a (@) ERGRBEE M BHIREEAF155
point in time as those services are provided under HKFRS 15. RARSE - REETE FHREK
AT UAMER ©
(o)  The Group recognises the government grants when it fulfils all the b ARERE EE/WE Eﬁiﬁ& RAEBIRE
conditions specified in the relevant law and regulations. There are E“]Fﬁﬁ“%#%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁ% ° ﬁﬂgﬁg
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. S AN ﬁi_féﬁx fex Efgz%
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the government grants B Eﬁzé:%@:‘:ﬁ +:\ﬂ =t-
include subsidies from the local government for the Employment H Fig ' B(‘ﬁﬁ EE@%E‘?%B{H
Support Scheme of approximately RMB722,000 (2022: %EftiﬁéﬂE@%ﬁﬂﬁ%@&ﬁﬁwzz,ogo
RMB334,000) and additional deduction of value added tax from TL(=B=—FF : ARM334,0007T)
the PRC government of RMB8,562,000 (2022: RMB14,118,000). Ko o B BRI S 1B B R S TR A RS
8,562,000C (ZT =4 : ARK
14,118,0007T) °
© MREEZT-_—_F+-A=+—Hit

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
derecognised an amount of approximately RMB20,965,000 of
accounts payable after it was determined that the Group had no
obligation to pay counter party in accordance with the issued
court order.
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—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 9. BeBimnEF (E1E)
The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBHBRBEAEFR (FE) &40
(crediting): B (FEA) LT RIBEEREBH
2023 2022
—E-= et -3
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

Cost of services, including: BRAERA - B4E - 1,874,952 2,066,400
— Advertising publishers’ platform or website ~ — E& &K
F B AL 1,797,851 1,984,792
- Video content providers — RIEARHIERS 37,465 57,699
- Maintenance support — HEERE 24,268 6,543
Depreciation and amortisation e K 10,492 13,911
Auditor’s remuneration ZEETENS 1,800 2,100
Lease payments not included in the FTEEEaERT
measurement of lease liabilities REF AMHEERNK 351 252
Employee benefit expenses EERAFEX (TEEES
(excluding directors’ and chief REZTHAERNHEN
executive’s remuneration (Note 11))": (BfF=E11)) "
Wages and salaries TERFS 66,858 60,535
Pension scheme contributions™ EBREFTEIHERR 6,918 5,869
Share-based payment expenses R AERENAREX 8,149 22,192
81,925 88,596

" Employee benefit expenses excluding share-based payment " BERAMMAXZ (TBEARND A ERD

expenses amounting to RMB538,000, RMB27,495,000, AL ) AR®S538,0007T « AR
RMB24,406,000 and RMB14,419,000 are included in “Cost 27,495,000 + AR#24,406,0007T & A
of sales”, “Selling and distribution expenses”, “Research and R#14,419,0007T 0 Bt AR & B R AR
development costs” and “Administrative expenses” respectively in [fHERA] - [HE R HEFAX |~ [H3K
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. KIRIITHAZIT -

” At 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited contributions "~ R-IBE-_=F+-A=+—H ~"&EEfE
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in 2SR U FR AT AR AR B A R SR AF JE SR IR
future years (2022: Nil). HEINRR(ZE_—F - |E) o
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. MAFER A
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HEEH AN DT
2023 2022
=5 —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FR ARBTT

Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 8,938 6,869
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 17) EREEaENFE (EE17) 1,071 827
10,009 7,696
11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERERSTEASRIFN
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, B EHRE - FB A TEHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (@b c)ROEIRART (HEEER
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 =ER) BOE2HEENAFEES
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of RESTHRASHMOT

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
—E=-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR ARBT

Fees: weE

Directors ) 540 513

Other emoluments: Hibf & -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYAG 5,041 4,637

Share-based payment expenses DA BERNA R 153 342

Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEMER 755 693
5,949 5,672
6,489 6,185
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1. EEREHITEA 895N

REMUNERATION (continued) (#8)
(@) Independent non-executive directors (@) BILIEHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRIAFBILIHITESNR
during the year were as follows: W :
2023 2022
—E-= —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Mr. Chen Baoguo PREEEI L4 180 171
Mr. Yu Limin® RARFE 180 77
Ms. Zhao Xuemei® TEEMg L LS - 94
Mr. Jin Yongsheng SKRELE 180 171
540 513

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2022: Nil). (ZB--F 1 #|) -

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b)

and the chief executive
Year ended 31 December 2023

AE

FRUEENTEUFNITESNEMMNES

PITEE  FRTEERRBTH

BFE-_F-_=%+_-_A=+—BHi1LEE

Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses contributions remuneration
g 2MR  DRGhBER Be
g EMflE  HEREX aTEIf HrihasE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HITES -
Mr. Gao Dinan SR BEE - 1,754 - 140 1,894
Mr. NIE Xin EELE - 720 - 209 929
Mr. Jiang Yu' BFE Lzt - 1,080 153 200 1,433
Mr. Yu Dingyi2 FTT %42 - 760 - 101 861
Non-executive directors: FHITESE -
Mr. Zheng Wei BRIE 4 - 721 - 105 832
- 5,041 153 755 5,949
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S 11. EERRSITBA SRETN

REMUNERATION (continued) (&)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITEE  EHITEERRS
and the chief executive (continued) TBAS (&)
Year ended 31 December 2022 gE—®—_—#+-A=+—H
bR
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses  contributions  remuneration
e 28 RHAERE pdrNed
e REWAE  HEFEX PRI Frafas
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETr ARETR ARETr ARETR
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Gao Dinan BRBEEE - 1,689 - 153 1,842
Ms. Zhou Yan? BE%L e - 317 - 62 379
Mr. NIE Xin BELE - 720 - 182 902
Mr. Jiang Yu' Brat = 484 342 a7 923
Non-executive directors: FBTES
Mr. Zheng Wei? BERrEe - 1,428 - 198 1,626
Mr. Song Chunyu’” REMEE - - - - -
- 4,638 342 692 5,672
1 Ms. Jiang Yu was appointed as an executive director of the 1 BELZAR-_FBE-_—F+HA_-+HE

Company with effect from 20 July 2022, and appointed as
the CEO in replacement of Mr. Gao Dinan (“Mr. Gao”) with

RERRABATEZRR T _—
FT_ATABEZEREREHTE

effect from 16 December 2022.

NEESHEEE(SELED -

2 Mr. Yu Dingyi was appointed as an executive director of the 2 T—hEN—_BE-_=F+A+HhBE
Company with effect from 19 July 2023. REAKRDRRMITES °

3 Ms. Zhou Yan resigned as an executive director of the 3 FeELZt+RN—_E-_—F/H -+ /\H
Company with effect from 28 April 2022. BHEARRRIITES °

4 Mr. Yu Limin was appointed as an Independent non- 4 RRREENR-_BE-__F+A=-+=
executive Director of the Company with effect from 22 July HEZEANARBYIEAITES -
2022.

5 Ms. Zhao Xuemei resigned as an Independent non- 5 HERLZLITN T _—_Ft+tA—-+H
executive Director of the Company with effect from 20 July BHEARARIBN FEITES -
2022.

6 Mr. Zheng Wei was resigned as a non-executive director of 6 RN _E_=F+ A+ LBE
the Company with effect from 19 July 2023. ERARIBEAITES ©

7 Mr. Song Chunyu resigned as a non-executive director of 7 REREENR-_ZE-__FWA=-+N

the Company with effect from 28 April 2022.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (continued)

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were
granted to directors and the chief executive of the Group
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
incentive plan of the Company, further details of which
are set out in Note 30 to the financial statement. The fair
value of these options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting periods,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above directors’ and the chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services as directors of the Company.

No performance related incentive payments were
determined and paid to any of the directors and chief
executive or to any of the five highest paid individuals
set out in Note 12 below for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: Nil).

There were no amounts paid or payable by the Group
to the directors and chief executive or any of the five
highest paid individuals set out in Note 12 below as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company or the
Group as a compensation for loss of office.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the
year include two directors (2022: two), details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 11 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022: three)
highest paid individuals who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

12. ARREHMALT

FR - AREBLEESHMA L CER
BEE(CE--F WR)  HHM
HEHENLEXMETEN - FRBT=H
(Z2=F  =R)ReFMAL (Xt
FARBAESHRSTHRAE) HFHH
HEAOT

2023 2022

—E=-= —ECF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARSETT ARET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2 - 2Bt R EYIFI 1,347 3,466
Share-based payment expenses (Note) ARG AERM AN B X (FizE) 5,982 3,642
Pension scheme contributions BRSFTEERK 521 380
7,850 7,488

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FEERFESTRAEBNRSHMA LH
FMIA LT EBENABAOT :

Number of employees

EEAE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,00038 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 = 1,500,0008 7T - -
HK$1,500,000 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00078 7t £ 2,000,00038 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,00178 7t £2,500,00058 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 787t £ 3,000,00058 7T 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 87t £3,500,00058 7T - -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,00178 7t £4,000,00058 7T 1 1
3 3

Note:

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were granted to these
highest paid individuals of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share incentive plan of the Company, further details of
which are set out in Note 30 to the financial statement. The fair values
of these RSU units, which are used as the basis for recognition of the
share-based payment expense in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss over the vesting periods, were determined as at the date of
grant and the amount of share-based payment expense recognised
in the financial statements for the current year is included in the above
highest paid individuals’ remuneration disclosures and in the directors’
remuneration disclosures in Note 11.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The income tax expense of the Group for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 comprised current tax expense
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax expense or income.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practice in respect thereof, except for the following
four PRC subsidiaries (2022: four), which are entitled to
preferential tax treatment of 15% for three years upon grant of
the certificates as they are qualified as “new high technology
enterprise (“HNTE”)”:

Huanju Times (“BIB R LEE(GER)ERAT") has
obtained the certificate of HNTE effective from 2 December
2019, and was registered with the local tax authority to be
eligible for a concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years
from 2019 to 2021. The certificate of HNTE was then renewed
on 2 November 2022, and the eligibility of the concessionary
tax rate of 15% was extended to 2024.

Wanka Huanju (“StM#E B LEEGER)BRAR") has
obtained the certificate of HNTE effective from 30 November
2023, and was registered with the local tax authority to be
eligible for a concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years
from 2023 to 2025.

Zhonghe (“HFFREEELBMRAT") has obtained the
certificate of HNTE effective from 14 September 2021, and
was registered with the local tax authority to be eligible for a
concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years from 2021 to
2023.

Hui Times Information Technology Service (Jilin) Co., Ltd.
(“ERAREEREMERZE(FM)BRAF") has obtained the
certificate of HNTE effective from 29 December 2022, and
was registered with the local tax authority to be eligible for a
concessionary tax rate of 15% for three years from 2022 to
2024.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

13. FifEHiR%
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

13. FTiRBiFEX (&)

2023 2022
—EgC-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T

Current — Mainland China BIHA — AR B R
Charge for the year FRAX 14,535 21,392
Deferred tax credit IEFERL IR (1,919) (4,287)
Total tax charge for the year FRFIER AR 12,616 17,105

A reconciliation of the tax expense or income applicable
to profit or loss before tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective

tax rates are as follows:

BARARAEARIDWEQREEME
AR B K A E B R E AIBRE DS
R (BE) WERREMX WAL
HERWT -

2023 2022
—E¥-= —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARBT T
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ADER S (EE) 34,612 (111,453)
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BEERE(25%) 8,653 (27,863)
Effect of lower tax rates for EREEZEEEFRSEEZHEL
subsidiaries entitled to preferential A ZBER RN E
tax treatment (5,048) (8,059)
Effect of different tax rates in different TRREEETEBR RN E
jurisdictions 2,372 2,964
Expenses not deductible for tax FRIBLAI S & 603 46,495
Effect of tax losses not recognised RERNFIEBESE 6,036 3,568
Tax charge at the Group’s BRASKEERFETEN
effective tax rate HIER X 12,616 17,1056

Income tax payable as at 31 December 2023 includes
RMB92,322,000 (2022: RMB92,322,000) which represents
the amounts of income tax provided in prior periods at the
statutory tax rate of 25% instead of the preferential tax
rate of 15% for HNTEs in respect of periods prior to the
periods covered by the certificates of HNTE obtained by the

respective subsidiaries.
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14.

15.

Notes to the Financial Statements

DIVIDEND

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount
is based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to
owners of the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,491,991,021 (2022: 1,464,677,000) in
issue excluding the treasury shares in respect of RSUs which
had not yet fully vested during the year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume the exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares in
respect of RSUs granted which had not fully vested.

14.

15.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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ToF ) o

= —

FAEEBERHR ARG
BREF (BE)

BREARRF (FE) SEIIERAK
FEARQBREEANELFEREF(E
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& :1,464,677,0008%) E#TEER
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share

are based on:

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of
the Company used in the basic and diluted earnings per
share calculation (RMB’000)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the year used in the basic earnings per share calculation

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of
ordinary shares:
RSUs

15. AABEBEER TR ARG

sSBREH (&BE) (&)
EREAR#HERRN (BHE) NiTE
TERALT&E :
2023
—g-=

FTE SR EA R SR R T

WD BEE ABLEERNR

. (EE) (ARETT) 15,488

STEESREREFESETANER
BETE B INEF T 1,491,991,021
HEYE - TERNINERY
2

3% BRI AR 19 B 2 33,752,329

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

SAESREERFKMANFR
[RX:"3

the year used in the diluted earnings per share calculation ITEBERINETITE 1,525,743,350
2023 2022

—E-= —ECCF
Basic earnings/(loss) per share BREREF (FHE) RMBO0.01 (RMB0.09)
(expressed in RMB per share) (AEBRARETIIR) AR¥0.01t (AR#0.097T)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share BREEEF (EE) RMBO0.01 (RMB0.09)

(expressed in RMB per share)

(UEBRARETTIIR)

AR¥0.015t (AR#0.097T)

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the unvested RSUs
had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per share and
therefore not reflected in the calculation of diluted loss per

share.
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—2-=%+t-A=t—H
31 December 2023

16. Y% - BERRE

Electronic Transportation

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold

devices equipment improvements Total
E¥EE EhiE HEPRRE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT
Cost BA
At 1 January 2022 RZE-Z%-F-H 2,189 1,275 1,032 4,496
Additions B 481 - 269 750
Acquired through business combination EBEBAHIE 86 - - 86
Disposal HE (60) - - (60)
Exchange gain NI 28 1 - - 1
RZBZZF
At 31 December 2022 +=B=+-H 2,697 1,275 1,301 5,273
Additions nE 318 - 112 430
Disposal HE (7 - - U
Exchange realignment B %R 3 - - 3
RZBZ=f
At 31 December 2023 +=B=1+—-H 3,011 1,275 1,413 5,699
Accumulated depreciation ZaHirE
At 1 January 2022 R=Z-—F-F—H 1,764 944 196 2,904
Depreciation E 251 79 26 356
Disposal HE (53) - - (53)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% 1 - - 1
R-BZZF
At 31 December 2022 +ZA=+—H 1,963 1,023 222 3,208
Depreciation il 308 79 465 852
Disposal HE (6) - - )
Exchange realignment [ 5 % 3 - - 3
RZBZ=f
At 31 December 2023 +=B=1+—-H 2,268 1,102 687 4,057
Net book value AREF{E
S
At 31 December 2023 +=A=1+-AH 743 173 726 1,642
R-BE-—&
At 31 December 2022 +=ZA=+—-H 734 252 1,079 2,065
—E-=£F BWEEHERAS 159
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

17. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used
in its operations. Leases of office premises generally have
lease terms of between 1 and 5 years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group. There is no lease contract that
includes extension and termination options and variable lease

payments.

(@) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets
and the movements during the year are as follows:

17. S

AREERRBEAN
AEBRAELBERBERMAEYEM
ANHEESH PRAEYENHEHERE
AE—ZRFHEY - —RME - A&
EERAEEUNERER S BREEE
FEZRE - BEEESVEETEHR
RIDEEZRER JRAEMNK -

(@) EREESZE
FR o AEENERAEEENR
EERSSHNT :

Office premises

A E

RMB’000

AR®ETT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_F#—H—H 26,965
Additions NE 2,928
Derecognition of lease HER IR (11,336)
Lease modification HEER (2,063)
Depreciation charge ERX (6,326)
Exchange realignment & AR 20
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBZZH+ZA=+—H 10,188
Additions NE 7,848
Depreciation charge TERX (7,087)
Exchange adjustment ERTIES 2
At 31 December 2023 REBZ=F+=ZA=+—H 10,947
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17. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

“EC=Ft+-HA=t—H

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

17 ﬂ (/nﬁ)

31 December 2023

AEBE{EREBEA (F)
(b) HERME

FR - HEAENKREEREZE

movements during the year are as follows: mr
Lease liabilities
HEaE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—F—HF—H 26,317
New leases HEE 2,928
Accretion of interest recognised during the year S RBERENF SEE 827
Payments (B (4,386)
Lease modification HEER (2,063)
Derecognition of lease HEXRIEER (11,358)
Exchange realignment 0 5 54
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-_-H+-A=+—H 12,319
New leases HEE 7,848
Accretion of interest recognised during the year — FRERNF S 1EE 1,071
Payments (REN (8,962)
Exchange realignment & 7R 1
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+=-A=t+—H 12,277
2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTR ARET T
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNEAER 2 8,514 6,499
Non-current portion JEENHAER 3,763 5,820
12,277 12,319
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in S B B T H 5 A7 A B 7S 25 25 1
Note 37(c) to the financial statements. H37(C)E -
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

17. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation
to leases are as follows:

17. G (&)

FEB{EREBA (F)

(c) THEHFAERERHRIENT -

2023 2022
—g-= —EICF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEFRE 1,071 827
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FAEEENERX 7,087 6,326

Expense relating to short-term leases and E2fEHAHE R B A& T
other leases with remaining lease terms MWHAMEEERENAS 186 93

Expense relating to leases of HEEEEENAE
low-value assets BREMEX 165 159
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R AR MAEEE 8,509 7,405
18. GOODWILL 18. &

2023 2022
—g-= —EICF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
As at 1 January n—B—H 34,800 183,164
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—EHE LD - 6,422
Impairment WA (2,361) (154,786)
As at 31 December R+=B=+—H 32,439 34,800
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), each of
which represented the whole of the respective reportable and
operating segment, for impairment testing:

o Online-video distribution CGU; and

° Software maintenance services CGU.

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable
amount of goodwill is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. The use of this method requires the estimation of
future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of the cash flows.

Online-video distribution CGU

During the year, online-video distribution CGU experienced
delay in collection of the receivables from the video platforms
and reduction in revenue from these customers. The
recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU has
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a five-year period to 31 December 2028 approved by senior
management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections is 24.65% (2022: 25.13%) per annum. The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the online-
video distribution CGU beyond the five-year period is 2%
(2022: 2%) per annum. The directors of the Company believe
that this growth rate is reasonable taking into account the
future uncertainty of the global macro economy and market.
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31 December 2023

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Software maintenance services CGU

The recoverable amount of the software maintenance
services CGU has been determined based on a value-in-use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period to 31 December 2028
approved by senior management. The pre-tax discount
rate applied to the cash flow projections is 23.91% (2022:
22.69%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows
of the software maintenance services CGU beyond the five-
year period is 2% per annum. The directors of the Company
believe that this growth rate is reasonable taking into account
the future uncertainty of the global macro economy and
market.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
CGUs are as follows:

18. A& (&)
EERE (E)
RS ERBIRESEESEM
R HEREREEEENPTRES
HEDNRBRALSREREIENET
HERIFHEE—_SE-N\E+=-A=+
_Eﬂjﬁiﬁ Eﬁiﬁu%/mifﬁ EJE'I' E’g{i
FAEEEE BEARRSAEEIN
BATBRIREA23.91% (=22 ==
22.69%) - AREESH#ERKERS
ELXENAFHEZRSRENFER
RE2% o ANFEERA  EEEE
HEBKERTSHNARTEEN » %
BEREBSE -

TERERERSELBVNBHEREEN
T

2023 2022

—gT=-= —E-CF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBT T

Online-video distribution RERIEERD 26,017 28,378
Software maintenance services HUHERSESELESN 6,422 6,422
32,439 34,800

The recoverable amount of the goodwill belonging to each of
the CGUs are as follows:

= Online-video distribution: There is a shortfall
between the carrying amount of the CGU and its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss on goodwill of
approximately RMB2,361,000 (2022: RMB154,786,000)
was recognised in the consolidation statement of profit
or loss as impairment losses during the year ended 31
December 2023; and

- Software maintenance services: Recoverable amount of
the CGU was higher than its carrying amount, hence no
impairment loss was recognized during the year.
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
CGUs. The following describes each of the key assumptions
on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Discount rates — The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect market assessments of the time value and the specific
risks relating to the industry.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine the
revenue growth rates in the five-year forecast period are the
historical data of the CGU, management’s expectation of
the future market and the average growth rate achieved by
comparable companies. Growth rates beyond the first five
years are based on economic data pertaining to the region
concerned.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
adjusted for expected efficiency improvements, and expected
market development.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group appointed
Graval Consulting Limited, independent professional qualified
valuers, to assist the management on carrying out relevant
assessment works.

Any change in the assumptions selected by management
could materially affect the value in use calculations used in the
impairment testing and therefore may result in an impairment
charge to profit or loss.

18.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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AEREELEMNEREERERT
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RenE8RANETHERENRNSE
HERRKE
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o WRRETERENGBEERS
TE BB 5 R o
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—E_=F+-A=t+—H
31 December 2023

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. HiWER &EE
Commercial Software Customer
resources copyright relationship Total
=) R EFREfZ st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFRT ARETRT ARETRT
Cost B
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_#—HF—H 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Acquired through business BBERSOTUE
combination (Note a) (Ffz¥a) = 6,755 = 6,755
At 31 December 2022 and 2023 RZBE--ER-F=-=
F+ZA=1+—H 20,152 12,920 25,000 58,072
Accumulated amortisation and R3H#s Rik{E
impairment
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—#—HF—H 20,152 4,644 19,041 43,837
Amortisation i - 2,229 5,000 7,229
At 31 December 2022 RZEZZF
+=A=+—H 20,152 6,873 24,041 51,066
Amortisation B - 1,594 959 2,553
At 31 December 2023 R=®T=-=
+=RA=+—H 20,152 8,467 25,000 53,619
Net book value BREFE
At 31 December 2023 RIBEZ=F
+=—A=+—H - 4,453 = 4,453
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—F
+=-A=+—H = 6,047 959 7,006
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

On 1 April 2022, the Group acquired entire equity interests of
Zhonghe for a consideration of RMB5,560,000 (the “Acquisition”).
The purchase price paid by the Group for the acquisition has
been allocated to the identifiable assets and liabilities of Zhonghe
acquired based on their estimated fair values at the date of the
Acquisition.

The addition of intangible assets recognised in 2022 were
related to the software copyright acquired from the Acquisition.
The software copyright of RMB6,755,000 was valued by an
independent valuer using “excess profit” method of discounting
the future expected net profits of Zhonghe generated from the
software copyright. Key inputs used in valuing the fair value of the
intangible assets are set forth below:

Discount rate b3 =

Budgeted revenue growth rate

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the software, which reflects
specific risks relating to the assets.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth
rate is the historical data, management’s expectation of the
future market and average growth rate achieved by comparable
companies.

The impairment assessment of the software copyright intangible
asset was performed as part of the impairment assessment of the
software maintenance services CGU (see Note 18).

FREREIERE

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

19. HtbEREE (&)

(@)

RZE-_—FWOA—ARH ' KEBNUA
R 5,560,000 7T B (B Wi o A Y
ZEPRRE ([WEE1E]) - NEERLIKL
BREMIMHKEEDREPREN
Al BIE E & A EE W B BRI (S ET
AHESREREEEREE -

RI-T__FHRANEREEREY
K B U R E IR M B AE o B
HRTE A R#6,755,0007T @ BB
BRI A [BEEEF | VAR R Al g
B i A AE ) R SR TB ER A R 1 T 1
B ARNTEEFEEATENEE
BAERESIAT -

At the
transaction date
RRSEH
2022

—g-=

20%
2-3%

BRIR R THIR BT E B RO InHE 15
BARKAGE  RRBBEENRE
g o

AEE AR REOEEBD
B - EREERR B EAR
THRAAFEHE TR RE -

IR BT B ERR ER IR
R RIS IR & B AR BB MR (B RT
B —#B D #ETT (RPIRE18) o
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20. REtZEATINIRE

2023 2022
—E£== —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥T T

Interest in an associate at beginning of FYREE A RINER
the year 1,115 2,022
Capital injection to an associate (Note 1) & — B A &) (FizE1) 2,430 3,430
Share of loss in an associate (Note 2) 25— BB E QT EE (HFE2) (3,545) (4,337)
- 1,115

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Particulars of
registered

Name share capital
&% aMRAFE
Wanxin Chelian RMB89,639,000
Technology (Shen
Zhen) Co., Limited
(Note 1) (“Wanxin
Chelian”)
BEEBRE ORI ARH
BRATF (M) 89,639,0007T
((BEEE]D

Place of
incorporation
and business

30174V

REBHE,

PRC/
Mainland China

HhE B

s DRI -

Percentage of

Ownership interest Principal
attributable to the Group  activity
FREEG

FiA#E DL TEER
2023 2022

—g-= —E_CFE
49% 49% Internet of innovation of

vehicle business

49% 49% AERIFEBRARE
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“EC=Ft+-HA=t—H

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 20.

Summarised financial information in respect of Wanxin
Chelian below represents amounts prepared in accordance

31 December 2023

REEATINRE (&)

TXERERERNYBENRERR
BEBVBHMELNRRNEHE -

with HKFRSs.
2023 2022
—E®-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Non-current assets IRBEE 2 8
Current assets REEE 1,978 2,939
Current liabilities REAE (4,665) (672)
Net (liabilities)/assets F(BR)BE (2,685) 2,275
2023 2022
—g-= St -2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBTT
Revenue Wz 379 -
Loss from operations &S (9,950) (8,851)
The amount of the Group’s share of rEEELEEERERE
Wanxin Chelian
- Loss and total comprehensive loss for - FREFEREEEBEE
the year (Note 2) (BEE2) (3,545) (4,337)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Wanxin Chelian
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Equity attributable to owners of BEEEER ARLESR
Wanxin Chelian
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBRNBEEHMERE

interest in Wanxin Chelian

Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in ~ NEBRBEEEERN
Wanxin Chelian (Note 2) BREE (MiEE2)

LA EER B RERN GRS B RR PR
MR BEER 2 RN REES R

RMB’000
ARETT

(2,685)
Et Bl
49%

2022
—E-—F
RMB’000
ARBT T

2,275

49%

1,115
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—E-=ft-A=+—H
31 December 2023

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

21.

20. REMEATMIRE (F)

Notes: PR -

(1) During the year ended 31 December 2023, upon additional paid- (1) #HEZE-_=F+-A=1+—HLHF
up capital contribution being made by each shareholder of Wanxin B REEEBIBREERTEINEA
Chelian, the paid-up capital of Wanxin Chelian was enlarged HRENE  BEEEAOMEERR
from RMB20,963,900 to RMB25,963,900 (2022: Paid-up capital AR#20,963,900LIEAZE AR
was enlarged from RMB13,963,900 to RMB20,963,900) and the 25,963,900 C(Z T - —F : I8
Group’s equity interest in Wanxin Chelian remains unchanged. A ARK13,963,900 TIRAZE AR

#20,963,9007T) * NEERBEE
Bt BRI T o
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment commitment N-ZEB-—=#F+—-—F=+—8 A&
paid on Wanxin Chelian amounted to RMB12,702,000 (2022: BYEZEBNISEEREAARK
RMB10,272,000). As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s 12,702,00070 (ZE==4F : AR
remaining investment commitment on Wanxin Chelian was 10,272,00070) e R=ZE==F+=
RMB31,221,000, which has to be paid up by a subsidiary of the B=+—8 AEBEYEEEHYE
Company, Huanju Times, on or before 31 December 2030. T &S A AREE31,221,0007T
BEARTMBARBERRAR=-Z
=ZF+ZA=T—HBRZAHR °

2 As at 31 December 2023, since the share of loss in an associate ©) RoZE—=F+=-A=+—H @R
exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues AE—REL AT EERRNEER
recognising its share of further loss. AN TR - NEER R

HoEmEEINGTS

DEFERRED TAX 21. BEHIE

The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as EEREEEREENEHUT :

follows:

Deferred tax assets BEBIIESE

2023
—FC-=
Provision
Right-of- Lease on accounts
use assets Liabilities receivables Total
ERREE HEARE ERRIEE 5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
At 1 January 2023 RIE-=%-F-H (2,559) 3,091 11,603 12,135
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit or FRGIRE) /AR
loss during the year HELRE 136 (340) 1,786 1,582
Gross deferred tax assets at RZBZ=F+ZA=
31 December 2023 T-BHEEREE
EAE (2,429) 2,751 13,389 13,717
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Deferred tax liabilities
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—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

21, REBIE (F8)
EEBIERE
2023
—E-=
Fair value

adjustment on
acquisition of

subsidiaries
KRk B AT
B AT {ERE
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2023 NZBZ=F—HF—H 1,435
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFTABRELER B
loss during the year (337)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R-ZE_=F+-A=+—HH
31 December 2023 EERIEB ERLE 1,098
Deferred tax assets IREBIESE
2022
—ECCF
Provision
Right-of- Lease on accounts
use assets Liabilities receivables Total
FREEE HEEE RUERREGE @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARET T ARET T ARBTR
At 1 January 2022 RZEZZ#-F—-H (6,709) 6,542 8,752 8,585
Deferred tax (charged)/credited to profit or FERET ABRIELS
loss during the year EEBE—-AHE
ATEBA 4,150 (3,451) 2,851 3,550
Gross deferred tax assets at RZBEZZHF+ZA=
31 December 2022 +-BWELHES
B (2,559) 3,091 11,603 12,135
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“E=Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2023

21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21. BRERHIE (1B)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEH
2022
—E_F
Fair value
adjustment on
acquisition of
subsidiaries
WEEHE A A
A TERE
RMB’000
ARET T
At 1 January 2022 R-—ZE-_—_F—HA—H 495
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFTABRNELER B
loss during the year (737)
Acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary FEBWE—ENBAREA 1,677
Gross deferred tax liabilities at REBZZHF+ZA=+—H®
31 December 2022 RERIE B ERER 1,435
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets BMERMs > BETELERIEEERERE
and liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial SRR RIS - THAREBIE
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax R IREER DM DMERI SRR B Y ¢
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT

Deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE B AR R R IR

consolidated statement of financial BEEHIEEE

position 13,717 12,135
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the ~ R4r& BRI RIEZH

consolidated statement of financial EEFIEEE

position (1,098) (1,439)
Net deferred tax assets IEIER IEEEREE 12,619 10,700
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities (continued)

The Group has tax losses of RMB44,132,000 (2022:
RMB38,096,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2023. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB44,132,000 (2022:
RMB38,096,000) have not been recognised as at 31
December 2023 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008 if any.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately RMB48,038,000 at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB35,208,000).

21.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

IREHIA (48)
IBERIEEE (8)
RZEZ=F+ZA=1+—H  &5H
A AR S R R AR R R A B IE & 1B
AR#44,132,000c (ZFE==F : A
[<%£38,096,0007T) ° FTIE~ZEEET
REBEAKFE - AIKHERESEENA T
B0 FHBE MR RERBREF]

Hp s RZE_=F+"A=+—1 ">
WEERHIEEE AR 44,132,000
T (ZE=Z—F : AK%38,096,000
7T) 0 BAZEERENBCKEERS
BE—BRIFENMBARRMEL - BFR
R A]BEAE FE SR BRI T A LUK S 5 18 &S

Be

REPEIEEMERE  RPBRAER
N HHNEIRE R ERINRIREEEIRR
EABBI10%ENN - BEARER =
ZZEN\F-A-ARBERABBAR=-ZF
ZEF+Z A=t -BEMELNNK
i o BB AREENMNRIREE FRERDE
BB BRI ABBRY - BT REERAR
EHNTRNHE - RAKEN S - BAB
RHB10% - Bt XREBARZER
HEIAERINNEARE —ETN\F
—A—BEELENER (WNA) 5K
REBAATAB o

RIBE_=F+"A=+—H  #%E
JE B8 AN TE N A9 AN S B A P B K B A AL
HO B BB 2 B A9 SR BE B R FE A A9 TR 08K
MERELERIBEE - EER5 > (B
ATEAFBRARR AR AGEE D IRZE
Bl - R=—ZT_=F+=-A=+—H"
e SR FERR IR AE B T8 B & 1 A P B KB B
BARKREMNEREZESRENAAR
#£48,038,000t (=2 =-—F : AR¥
35,208,0007T) ©
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

22. FEUBRFR

2023 2022
—EC= —F--F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBT

Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 737,633 650,982
Loss allowance E5iEHE (56,869) (49,723)
Total st 680,764 601,259

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. For mobile advertising services,
online video distribution services, and software maintenance
services, the credit period generally ranges from three
months to six months for major customers. The Group seeks
to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balance is reviewed
regularly by the management. The Group does not hold any
collateral and other credit enhancements over these balances.
Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

AEEUEERRNERIFEFETR
5 o BRHEFI  ARF-—REREHE
AXNFE - HRBBESRYE - B
RIREm D BRI RAFEERS - £
BEEFNEER RN F=BAZEE
ATE o REE N REERBEBERUGK
HERFBREES  USERESER
2 EEESUHRNERETENE
B AREAENZSERIT MK
HRIEMEERLER - BUIRRIL
FatE ©

FE BR R (FBRE BB RREHR
ERBZAHNRERINOT -

2023 2022
—E=-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BFT ARBTT

Within 3 months 3EA R 492,772 344,049
3 to 12 months 3Z12{@H 180,783 245,806
1 to 2 years 1225 7,209 11,404

680,764 601,259

174 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023



Notes to the Financial Statements

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued)

The ageing of accounts receivable that are not individually nor
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows:

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

22, FEWARRR (&)

3 185 2 [B] 4545 A B Y P Ui AR SRR
FIBRERZNT :

2023 2022

—g-= —E__—F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBT T

Neither past due nor impaired BE S R N AR (B 387,617 344,022

Not more than 3 months past due BHTEBE={EA 105,155 92,927
More than 3 months past due BERBA=EAEIN+=EA

but less than 12 months past due 180,783 152,879

More than 1 year past due but less than ~ BEIHfiBB—FEDRBE
2 years past due 7,209 11,431
680,764 601,259

Accounts receivable that was neither past due nor impaired
relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of
default.

Accounts receivable that was past due but not impaired relate
to customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience and forward-looking information,
the management is of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary for these receivables as there has
not been a significant change in credit quality and the credit
risk is minimal.

Information about the impairment of accounts receivable and
the Group exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 37(b).

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
accounts receivable are as follows:

ARIEHR TR AR IR O P UL AR R B 5T A 3 4
EHTHENEFEE -

EEHERBERNEWARREAREE
BRFFETHENTFERH - RIBBHE
ERRAETEYN  BEEEIRERT
ZERYEHRAERE  BREE

BRWVEERSEHAEERBER

BREEVRTRER ASEHENEE
BB E R B A EES7(b) ©

FBYERFURERNERRENEBNT

2023 2022

—g-= —ERICF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTR ARBT T

At beginning of year F9) 49,723 38,319
Receivable written off during the year as A [E 7 7] Ux (@ i 68 FE Uk 5B

uncollectible (11,827) (24,546)

Impairment loss REEE 18,973 35,950

At end of year FR 56,869 49,723

=

—=FR BNSHRRATE
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. FEFRIE « HE R H bR
RECEIVABLES L]

2023 2022

—g-= —E——fF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®TT

Non-current portion FERENER S
Prepayment for acquisition of BB T B A TR FRIE (FiEEa)
subsidiaries (Note a) 25,131 -
Prepayment for acquisition of WEERER ETRATIR (FiEED)
equity investment (Note b) 11,850 -
Deposits paid (Note c) 2fJi&E (idc) 75,700 55,901
Rental deposits Hekse 2,302 2,264
114,983 58,165
Current portion ENER 5
Prepayments (Note d) FEASTFIE (MdFEd) 511,827 515,902
Deposits paid (Note ) B4R e (fizke) 12,304 8,849
Other receivables (Note f) H fth FE U TR IE (BFEES) 55,755 47,065
579,886 571,816
694,869 629,981
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company entered
into memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) with independent
third parties for the acquisition of target companies, as detailed
below:

(i) On 15 November 2023, the Company entered into the
MOU with independent third parties for the proposed
acquisition of entire equity interests of a company, namely
Whale Awakening CO., Limited. According to the MOU,
the Company paid RMB13,131,300 as a deposit for
the proposed acquisition, which will be refundable if the
proposed acquisition is not completed within one year from
the date of the MOU. The acquisition deposit is secured by
100% shares of the target company. The target company is
principally engaged in overseas mobile game development
and game distribution.

(ii) On 15 December 2023, the Company entered into the
MOU with independent third parties for the proposed
acquisition of entire equity interests of a company, namely
b Rie B ELRIE AR AF. According to the MOU,
the Company paid RMB12,000,000 as a deposit for
the proposed acquisition, which will be refundable if the
proposed acquisition is not completed within one year from
the date of the MOU. The acquisition deposit is secured by
100% shares of the target company. The target company
is principally engaged in science and technology promotion
and application service industry.

(b)  On 4 July 2023, the Company entered into the MOU with
independent third parties for the proposed acquisition of 18%
equity interests of a company, namely Orient Marine Limited,
which is principally engaged in overseas advertising, marketing
and related services to the domestic game’s developer. According
to the MOU, the Company paid RMB11,850,000 as a deposit for
the proposed acquisition, which will be refundable if the proposed
acquisition is not completed within one year from the date of the
MOU. The acquisition deposit is secured by 18% shares of the
target company.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E=ZF+ZA=t—H
31 December 2023

23. ERRIE » ZERHE BB
;IE (&)

BT -

@ REBE-—Z-_=F+-A=+—HI1

FE  ARAEBYE = F IR

1% Bk ([FRAFEER]) - LAKE B 12
/NI

i) RZTEZ=%+—A+H
A AARGEZEKEWhale
Awakening CO., Limited#)%&
EBARAE R S B = T AT M AR R
ﬁ%ﬂﬂff RIBRFERE - &

RAEHEBREIGTAR
%m1m3mﬁ¢ﬁf%ﬁﬁ
ZU B R ER AR =k B
%tfiwn& h%uL
B) WERSUBEZEAR
100% IR 1EEIR - BREA
$£%$ﬁ%%@ﬁ@ﬁ%&
i B AN

i) WN-B-=F+-A+aAB"
ZINUN ML%W%&RP
ELRIFEBRAANE
%ﬁﬁi%—ﬁﬂiﬁmﬁ

c RIBFFHFBE T - A
ﬂEML%W%ﬁHAE
#12,000,000 LIEABIE S (14
ERWE RN R BB
HE—FRTHK  HTUE
%)JﬁﬁﬁéuﬁﬁﬁTm
100% D EEA - BEA
Igﬁiﬂ&ﬁgﬁ%%%%
I3 °

) RZZE_=FtAWMA - A aEgE
U B Orient Marine Limited (3= Z1¢
EARNEEAEGREEIINES
& 5 M AR R AR TS ) 8 18% AR A £ 98 3L
FE=FRI LR B ER o IRBREE
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

As at 31 December 2023, the deposits paid are for the long-
term cooperation with the distribution channel suppliers of
approximately RMB67,200,000 (2022: RMB47,401,000), the
remaining RMB8,500,000 (2022: RMB8,500,000) deposit is paid
for video content suppliers to ensure long-term video content
supply.

As at 31 December 2023, prepayments mainly comprised of
payment advances to the distribution channel suppliers for volume
of the Group’s advertisement distribution of mobile advertising
services amounting to approximately RMB483,266,000
(2022: RMB480,857,000), prepayments to game developers
approximately RMB28,561,000 (2022: RMB35,045,000).

The balances of deposits paid as at 31 December 2023 and
2022 mainly represent rental deposits and deposits to suppliers
of approximately RMB11,092,000 (2022: RMB8,692,000) as
security for the due performance and observation of the Group’s
obligation under the contracts entered into between the Group
and its suppliers.

As at 31 December 2023, other receivables mainly represent
value added tax receivables of approximately RMB44,829,000
(2022: RMB40,599,000).

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each
reporting period date by applying the general approach to provide
for expected credit losses of deposits and other receivables
prescribed by HKFRS 9. None of the above assets is either
past due or impaired. The financial assets included in the above
balances related to other receivables, for which there was no
recent history of default.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(h)

Impairment of deposits and other receivables is assessed based
on 12-month expected credit losses, which are the portion of
lifetime expected credit losses that result from the default events
that are possible within the twelve months after the reporting date.
When there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime expected
credit losses. For measuring the expected credit losses, deposits
and other receivable have been classified based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected
credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate
is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The expected credit loss
rate for deposits and other receivables is minimal.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, PLEDGED 24. IR RIRS%ZEY  CikiF

AND TIME DEPOSITS REBRERR
2023 2022
—g-= —E——fF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT AR®TT

Cash and bank balances RERRBITHEER 534,899 612,551
Less: Restricted bank deposits: W ZREIBITER -
Pledged for bank loans (Note 28) MIRITERIE R (FizE28) (10,374) (61,690)
Time deposits with original maturity REEABBE={EAKN
over three months EHITFERR (2,651) (12,637)
(13,025) (74,327)
Cash and cash equivalents REFRREEEY 521,874 538,224
Denominated in: LU SIS #EHE ¢
- RMB - AR¥ 514,808 501,437
-UsD — %7 1,753 28,079
- HKD — BT 5,313 8,708
521,874 538,224
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However, ARBELR Hﬂ@?ﬁ}%ﬂ{’@i@f’ﬁ‘i ° R
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over o ARIR R B KRR ST ME YR 1T A A
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB BRI ?iﬁjﬁ@%ﬁgﬁ@%ﬁ
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct RBEHRITHARBRRRBHEMER

foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily SRITHERRENS RRITIFRFIRNZ
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made BFIEHE - RHEHEFRRTARE
for varying periods of between seven days and one year ZERREFR  HERNFELRE—
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, FHETSE  ZERAEZEHERFHK
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit R - MITERDERRBESE
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy BRI MR AR RIIRITAY ©

banks with no recent history of default.
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25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

26.

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

“EC=Ft+-HA=t—H

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

25.

FEfHRRRR

31 December 2023

AEENEARFNBEPRENER
AEMEH A BRER AT 0T -

follows:
2023 2022
=== —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
Within 1 year 1FR 20,384 42,501
1 to 2 years 1225 4,706 2,599
More than 2 years 2F Pk 9,291 7,859
34,381 52,959

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days.

EAERATHE  A—RRABHE0E0H A

j:M
©E o

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. HhFEfTFRIERFESTRRIE
2023 2022
—E=-= —E_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREF T
Payroll payable BHEHE 6,827 7,274
Other payables and accruals (Note) Hith eI 7RI & FEST B
(BfF5E) 75,772 67,029
82,599 74,303

Note:
VAT tax credit of RMB70,967,000 (2022: RMB57,819,000) is included in

other payables as at 31 December 2023.

Current portion of other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing
and have an average term of three months.

B

AE#70,067,0007C (ZE=——F : AR¥E
57,819,0007T) A EMREREFT AT
=F+ZA=t+—WEAMENFE -

H A & SRR N B R SR AV R

=
T
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. 8¥ER
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHEEFBUT :
2023 2022
—E-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FR ARBTT

Contract liabilities arises from EHEEELER

Mobile advertising services BEESRE 19,309 25,256
Online-video distribution services PERIEE D ERTE 21 20
Game co-publishing services T B AR S 2,660 2,557
Total contract liabilities, within one year ~&SHEEHEE (—FR) 21,990 27,833
The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance BHEEFETERLT S NEMTESE
consideration received from the customers. They have been B - HRIABRIFENES » 54
recognised as revenue from performance obligations satisfied BEEEIBBENTEEINRALBEER
due to the changes in the timing of revenue recognition, and BERTREETE -

is typically billed when the advertisement is displayed.

Movements in contract liabilities SHREES
2023 2022
—E=-= —ECF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETT

Balance as at 1 January R— A — BW&EeR 27,833 29,844
Decrease in contract liabilities as a EFEANERBAEHELN

result of recognising revenue during a8ERD GEAFIH

the year that was included in the EHEE) (ME7)

contract liabilities at the beginning of

the year (Note 7) (27,833) (29,844)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EZFIZAIBZEMENEHNAR

billing in advance from customers 21,990 27,833
Balance as at 31 December RTZA=+—Hm&e 21,990 27,833
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27.

28.

Notes to the Financial Statements
B F5 3R TR 5E

—2-=%+t-A=t—H

31 December 2023

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. 8HI&EE (&)
Movements in contract liabilities (continued) BB RES (E)
The following table shows the expected time for recognition TRETRELZABRBITNENER
as revenue of the unsatisfied performance obligations at year BR AW AR TERRRR
end date:
2023 2022
—ECZ= —E-CF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBFT
At end of year RELER
Expected to be recognised FEFTR — F RER
within one year 21,990 27,833

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. ;T BERITIESR

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at ~ AEER=-Z==F+=A=+—HMNFE
31 December 2023 are as follows: BATERVFBWT ¢

As at 31 December 2023
R=T=-=%+=-H=+—H

Effective
contractual
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRETHFIE(%) FH#AE ARETT
Current BN AR
Bank loans - secured RITEMR — BIRA 1.500-3.050 2024 30,000
—E-lmE
- unsecured — IR 2.810-4.150 2024 273,500
ke 11 - 5
303,500
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. st 2ERITHERR (&)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2022
R=B-—#+-A=1-8H

Effective
contractual
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BRERETHAFIE (%) ZE R ARMT T
Current BNER
Bank loans — secured IRITER — K 1.500-3.000 2023 71,000
—E=F
- unsecured — KA 3.650-4.350 2023 189,000
—E=F
260,000
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —EF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Analysed into: DIH
Bank loans repayable: FEEZERITERR :
Within one year or on demand —FRRIZER 303,500 260,000
Notes: FI5E -
(@)  Asat 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank loans of @ RKRZZEZ=F+=—A=+—8 4%

(i) RMB10,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of
RMB10,374,000 provided by a subsidiary of the Company,
Wanka Holdings Limited (“Wanka Holdings”);

(ii) RMB104,500,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, who is an
executive director of the Company and a subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju;

(iii) RMB18,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao;
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Notes to the Financial Statements

28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

RMB90,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company;

RMB23,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times;

RMB40,000,000 was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the
Company, Huanju Times; and

RMB10,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and two
subsidiaries of the Company, namely, Huanju Times and
Suzhou Longying,

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans of

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(Vi)

RMB71,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of
RMB61,690,000 provided by three subsidiaries of the
Company, namely, Wanka Holdings, Wanka Huanju and
Beijing Chile;

RMB80,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, who is an
executive director of the Company and a subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao;

RMB40,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company;

RMB15,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times; and

RMB60,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company, in relation to which the Group had failed to fulfill
certain financial covenants as stated in the relevant loan
agreement during the year ended 31 December 2022. On
26 June 2023, the Group has obtained waiver for strict
compliance on the relevant financial covenant requirements.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

29. Ix&

Company Total number
FAT of ordinary
shares issued Total par Total par
Authorised  (excluding value of  Number of value of
number of treasury ordinary treasury treasury
shares shares) sharesissued sharesheld shares held
BT
Lk (ta
REERE) BT FEERE FEEHE
EERBEE By LERAEE BHEE RHEEE
'000 ’000 RMB ’000 RMB
Fhix Fht ARET Fht ARET
As at 31 December 2022 i S
+ZB=+-H 250,000,000 1,453,121 1,029 79,181 74
As at 31 December 2023 R-EZ=%
+ZB=+-H 250,000,000 1,489,510 1,029 61,371 74
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital AT IRANRY S BRI 0TS
is as follows:
Number of Issued Share
ordinary shares capital * premium Total
LERHE - ERTRE b E &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%-5—H 1,485,663,350 1 1,809,951 1,809,952
Vested restricted share units BETEEZEEBZMRE
transferred to employees (Note ()  BRAEE( (FiE(a)) - - 18,158 18,158
Newly granted RSUs in 2022 REZEZZFEHREN
ZRFIRIDEN 40,080,000 - = =
At 31 December 2022 and i S
1 January 2023 +=ZR=+-8K
“ZE-_=%-fA—H 1,525,743,350 1 1,828,109 1,828,110
Vested restricted share units EETEENCEBZRT
transferred to employees (Note ()  BRAEL (iF(a)) - - 18,070 18,070
At 31 December 2023% R-ZEZ=F
+=A=1+—R¢ 1,525,743,350 1 1,846,179 1,846,180
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability under the laws of Cayman Islands
on 7 November 2014 with an authorised share capital of
US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par
value of US$0.0001 each. Pursuant to the shareholders’
resolution passed on 15 November 2017, each of the issued
and unissued shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the
Company with a par value of US$0.000002 each.

Note:

(@) Certain employees of the Group exercised vested restricted share
units during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
36,389,040 (2022: 25,425,958) issued shares underlying the
restricted share units were transferred to such employees which
the Company had allotted and issued to the trustee in prior years
as fully paid-up shares (Note 30).

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.

& Excluding 8,096,235 and 28,137,000 shares held by Wanka
Alliance Limited and Wanka Legend Limited, respectively, as at
31 December 2023.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

29. iz (&)

AARR=ZE—NFE+— At BIRER
ERELFFMRIIEERZEBRE
FRAFE - AERAE50,000ETT 0 5
#500,000,000 8% = A HE{50.0001 7T
HRMD - RER=-Z—tF+—A+H
BEBHRRRER  SREBITRE
BITRODIRAERATS0REREE
0.000002 = JTTHIAR 1D ©

BT -

@ BEZT-=FR-T-__F+_A
=+—HILFE AEEETERET
FEHB 2 ZRHIARMD B o PR
B 17 B4 M #936,389,040/% (==
— — 4 :25,425,958[%) B EITRGD
(RARIRBEFERZEARLER
BITWHIER R MR ) B8R T 5%
&8 (KTz30) °

* ST EARE1,0007T °
& T B Wanka Alliance Limited &
Wanka Legend Limitedi® =& =

=F+-HA=+—B2RKAEN
8,096,235% 128,137,000 A5 °
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. LI BERNMREX

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 31 March
2016 (“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme was replaced by restricted share plan (“RSU Plan”)
which became effective from the date when the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme was adopted, that is 31 March 2016 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, the
vesting condition has been revised as i) upon the completion
of the Company’s IPO, and ii) fulfilment of a certain service
period. Other than that, there is no significant change as
compared with that of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme.

RSUs do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings unless the RSU awards have
become vested.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

2016 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all RSUs to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 31
March 2016. The maximum number of shares issuable under
RSUs in aggregate is 125,000. On 15 November 2017, each
of the issued and unissued shares was subdivided into 50
shares of the Company and accordingly, the number of shares
issuable under the 2016 RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000
and exercise price was decreased to US$0.0000002. Following
another share subdivision approved on 3 November 2018, as
of 31 December 2018, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
ordinary shares underlying all the grants under the RSU Plan.

As at 31 December 2023, 8,096,235 (2022:10,703,678) RSUs
were vested and exercisable, but not yet transferred to the
employees, under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

30. LIl AERERIFRRB X

(%)
—T—REREEETE (8)
RIBAQRA ZE—AERDBETE
FIRH 202 R HIAR D BT
A FETHRABHEERTEHRE_Z
—AR"E=ZHA=T—"HEBTRHEH
B110% © 1R4% 3 BR I A% {0 B8 v o] F 3
THRERHEE 5+ A125,0008 °
R-ZE—tHF+—A+EA  8KRE
BITRARBITRMOIFABS0RARD T
B’ B —ZF—ANEZREIBKRHD
BAuSTEIMS R IBITHRMOEE &
KZE6,250,000% - MITHEERFRZE
0.0000002%7T c HE=ZZE—NF+=
B=+—H #WR=-Z—N\F+—-F=
Bitt/ES —ERMIFAR - AATRE
62,500,000 B 1R ¥5 =% PR I AR 10 BE (v 5t
ZIFER THENZSBER °
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. LI BERNMREX

(continued)

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 29 August
2019 (“2019 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2019 RSU Plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to directors,
senior management and employees of the Group for their
contribution to the Group, and to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing them
with the opportunity to own equity interests of the Company.
Eligible participants of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
include the Company’s directors and certain employees
of the Group. The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme became
effective on 29 August 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The board of the Company can determine the vesting criteria,
conditions and the schedule when the RSUs will vest.

As at 31 December 2023, 28,137,000 (2022:15,844,000) RSUs
were vested and exercisable, but not yet transferred to the
employees, under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES
(continued)

2019 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the RSUs is recognised as an expense on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss with an increase in
equity.

The following table shows the RSUs outstanding under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme and the 2019 RSUs during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, and their weighted
average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

30. LUz {5 AERERI B
(%)
=T hERB MR E (8
BEHZRARDECTEEREHD
FENGERERAERBE - 2N
WA RREBATER -

TRIGBE-ZE_=FR-T__F
TZB=1+—HLEFE-ZE—<FRH
BEER —F-NEZRFIRMDEN
BT 18 R AT 52 PR I AR 49 B8 A % EL g
F91TEE ([ HIREFTEED ¢

2022 2023
2022 WAEP 2023 WAEP
Number of RSU ~ US$ per RSU Number of RSU  US$ per RSU
—E-CE —8-=
INREF g IR
—E--f TEE —8-= TiE®
ZRERG S EZRSE TRERS  SEZRHE
BluHE ROBEMNET Bi%HE WESTESH
Outstanding at 1 January R—A—BERTHE 57,968,233 0.0000002 72,622,275 0.0000002
Granted during the year (Note) FRERE (M) 40,080,000 0.0000002 - 0.0000002
Vested restricted share units EZTEENCHE
transferred to employees ZRFRGDEN (25,425,958) 0.0000002 (36,389,040) 0.0000002
Outstanding at 31 December R+=A=+—H
HRITE 72,622,275 0.0000002 36,233,235 0.0000002
Exercisable at 31 December W+=ZA=1+—-8
AFIE 26,547,678 0.0000002 36,233,235 0.0000002
Note: BaE
For the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme, the fair value of shares R NFROFETEImS N

determined by the quoted price of the Company’s shares at each grant
date was HK$0.42 as at 28 April 2022.

No other feature of the RSUs granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

“FOAZTNBRARBTBROHRERHB
HREETNRMN D FERC42ET

AEQTERTEEEEREZREIRNE
(WAESEIESE
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—E-=ft-A=+—H
31 December 2023

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. LI BERNMREX

(continued)

2019 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

Note: (continued)

As 31 December 2023, the Company has reserved 62,500,000 shares
under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme and had 8,096,235 RSUs
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding RSUs would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in a transfer of
62,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company from Wanka Alliance
Limited to the employees of the Group.

As 31 December 2023, the Company has reserved 91,738,000 shares
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and had 28,137,000 RSUs
outstanding as at 31 December 2023 under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding RSUs would, under
the present capital structure of the Company, result in a transfer of
91,738,000 ordinary shares of the Company from Wanka Legend
Limited to the employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-IPO share option
scheme to attract, retain and motivate employees, directors and other
participants, and to provide a means of compensating them through
the grant of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of
the Group, and to allow such employees, directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the “Post-IPO
Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options granted have a 10-
year exercise period. The options may be vested over such period(s)
as determined by the board of the Company in its absolute discretion
subject to compliance with the requirements under any applicable laws,
regulations or rules.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).
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31.

32.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 100 to
101 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC
shall appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated under
the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Suzhou Jinglan Cloud Technology Co., Ltd., a 51% owned
subsidiary of the Company, has material non-controlling
interest (“NCI”).

Summarised financial information in relation to Suzhou Jinglan
Cloud Technology Co., Ltd., before intra-group eliminations,
is presented below together with amounts attributable to NCI:

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

31. &

FEERTFERBEFEZRBESBER
BEEHNUBRREI00EEFE 101 B2
BREEEEHRIZT -

RIBPEABNEERER  ARARPEH
AMMHMEARAERRESEERANRTER
EENETRAFENFERE GRHBE
FERABRR)NETEILERES
mZHESHRRZRIRE)

32. FEiEhxtELs

FHMNERENZBRAT (A2FFHES1%
BENMELR) BEEAFERES ([3F
ERER ] -

REBARBEE 2 - BHEMNEBENES
RARMEBENMBENRZERFBNIFE
PRAERAYEERLN T PR

For the year ended 31 December BE+-A=1+—HILEE 2023 2022
—g-= —ECF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AREBTT ARET T

NCI percentage FERERB DL 49% 49%
Current asset RENEE 224,925 170,430
Current liabilities mEEE (50,220) (8,433)
Net assets BEFE 174,705 161,997
Carrying amount to the NCI IEE IR R Y BRE (B 85,605 79,379
Revenue Uz 737,869 83,614
Profit for the year F A& 13,282 1,997
Total comprehensive income e PNE 13,282 1,997
Profit allocated to the NCI DI EFEIE IR AE R AR 6,508 979
Dividend paid to the NCI ENFERERHIRE 141 =
Cash flows used in operating activities RETBIARESRE (78,465) (22,531)
Cash flows from investing activities RETENRERE 1 -
Cash flows from financing activities RIEREINIRERE 40,000 160,000
Net cash (outflows)/inflows B GRE), RAEEE (38,464) 137,469

To=FR EMSHAERAT 193



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=ft-A=+—H
31 December 2023

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of RMB7,848,000 in respect of
lease arrangements as disclosed in Note 17 (2022:
RMB2,928,000).

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances in the consolidated statement of financial
position for liabilities arising from financing activities,
which provides the information included in the
consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:

33. ZEBERERME

(a) EXHREXS

BZE-Z-=%+=-A=+—H
WLFE o SBUMEE17iE - K
SEpHETEEFERAREE
RHEEEFESREBARY

7,848,000t (ZEZ-F : AK
#£2 928,0007T) °
(b) RUEFEHFTSIRE BRYESE)

REMBRRRABEEE I
HEENHAORBREHRER
(REHGERERERFAIINE

BT

Interest Lease Interest-bearing

payable on bank Liabilities bank borrowings

RMB’000 ARETT borrowings Note 17 (b) Note 28

RITHERE HEARE T RRITER

FEfHI8 BtEE17(b) Hiztos

At 1 January 2023 R-F-=%-A—H 364 12,319 260,000
Changes from financing cash flows: FZR&REEE) :

Drawdown of bank loans RITERIER - - 443,520

Repayment of bank loans EERITER - - (400,020)

Principal portion of lease payments ~ HENFHIAEHD - (7,891) -

Interest expenses paid BEAFIEH% (9,043) (1,071) =

Other changes: Hith &g :

Interest expense on bank borrowing  STERFIERX 8,938 - -

Interest on lease liabilities HESERE = 1,071 =

New leases HEHE - 7,848 -

Exchange realignment fE - 1 -

At 31 December 2023 R=F==%+=-RA=+-H 259 12,277 303,500
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“EC=Ft+-HA=t—H

33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

31 December 2023

33. GEMERERMEE (F)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BAEEENFISINEBAIES)
activities (continued) (&)
Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable on bank Liabilities  bank borrowings
borrowings Note 17 (b) Note 28
RITERM HERE STRBTER
RIS HiEE17(b) HizE28
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—%—-8—H 682 26,317 171,647
Changes from financing cash flows:  Bi&R&HEEE) :
Drawdown of bank loans RITERREM - - 350,353
Repayment of bank loans BERTEN - - (262,000)
Principal portion of lease payments HERARNASHD - (3,559) -
Interest expenses paid BAFERR (7,187) (827) =
Other changes: Hitheg) :
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITEFNERT 6,869 = =
Interest on lease liabilities HESEFNE = 827 =
New leases HEHEE - 2,928 =
Lease modification HEEBY - (2,063) -
Derecognition of lease HERILRER - (11,358) -
Exchange realignment R RE - 54 -
At 31 December 2022 R-®=Z
+=B=+—-H 364 12,319 260,000

“ERC=FH% BNSHARAT
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@  There were no related party transactions during the year @ REBE=Z=—=
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil) except for certain
borrowings which were guaranteed by Mr. Gao stated in

34. FBEARS

F+-RA=+—
HIEFEXRITVEBAIRS
B F E)  MEEE28AT

Note 28. mis A RBERNE T AR
Gho
(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the b) ATEEFZEEASHTEN
Group
2023 2022
—®-= —BCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARET T
Short-term employee benefits EEEERA 7,261 5,563
Equity-settled share option expenses  LAHERS 45 & HY 88 IR #EBH X 153 342
Pension scheme contributions BIRETTEIHR 972 995
Total compensation paid to key mEEZEEASXGW
management personnel ) Pk 8,386 6,900

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in Note 11 to the financial

statements.
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—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

35. IRERIEISHERTR
EESBMT ARBEHRNEE BN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as B
follows:
Financial assets SRIEE
2023 2022
—E-= —ECCF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T
Financial assets at amortised cost BBERTENEREE
Accounts receivable FEUR BRFX 680,764 601,259
Financial assets included in AR RENEREE
deposits paid 88,004 64,750
Restricted bank deposit ZPRFIRITER 10,374 61,690
Time deposits with original maturity RE|H BB =1EA N
over three months EHIER 2,651 12,637
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBESEEY 521,874 538,224
1,303,667 1,278,560
Financial liabilities o =R
2023 2022
—g'-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHEAATENESREE
Accounts payable FE{SBRFX 34,381 52,959
Financial liabilities included in T A B TR K FEST
other payables and accruals ERNESRERS 11,633 16,484
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITER 303,500 260,000
Lease liabilities HEEE 12,277 12,319
361,791 341,762

“ERC=FH% BNSHARAT
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—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of pledged
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, accounts receivable, accounts payable, financial
assets included in deposits paid, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted bank deposits
and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as accounts receivable and accounts payable,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
minimising potential adverse effects of these risks, with
material impact, on the Group’s financial performance. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

The following table indicates the approximate change
in the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax and the Group’s
equity in response to reasonably possible changes in
the foreign exchange rates to which the Group has
significant exposure at the end of the reporting period
with all other variables held constant:

31 December 2023

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EAREBHETRE
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against ~ # A R#s 5 E T FHE
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EAREHBIEE
the Hong Kong dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & A BR#E 58 T FHE
the Hong Kong dollar

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

37. R EEEEEERBE

(%)

(a)

HIEE [ B
FEEEEETHEAERRESR
28 BEARHIEWEE &
BERRZEYTEUARBRET
FTHE ° RSB I EEREMITE
TAESHPHAEHHINERRS

TRIIRERBREMEERETR
HHRER T ANEER RS ARE
RERABNIIEERRSER
BEHBRNE B SR AEERBAT
BR(E1R) RAEBRER TR
ML 2B

—¥-_=%+-A=+—H

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
Change in in profit  (decrease)
exchange before tax in equity

Br¥immiE fELR g

Exes % (Ed) /(BD)

% RMB’000  RMB'000
% AREFRT ARETRT

(5) (88) (73)
5 88 73
(5) (266) (222)
5 266 222

SECZFH BEWMEHAERAT 199



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-=f+ZH=+—H
31 December 2023

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(@) Foreign currency risk (continued)

31 December 2022

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against
the United States dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against
the Hong Kong dollar

If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against
the Hong Kong dollar

BEARBHITRE

BEARBRXTAE

BEARBIBRRE

BEARBLBTAE

37. SRtEEEEBERBE
(48)
(@) SMERME (&)

Increase/

(decrease) Increase/

Change in in profit (decrease)
exchange before tax in equity
BRBLATR I FERR BN

Ex2® m (Hd) / (R)
% RMB’000 RMB’000

% AR®TRT ARETR
5) (1,404) (1,172)

5 1,404 1,172
(5) (435) (363)

5 435 363

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivables, deposits and other receivables,
cash and cash equivalent, time deposits, bank balances
with the restricted bank deposits. The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk, which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge the obligations
by counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the combined statements of financial position at the end

of each reporting period.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable in connection with mobile
advertising services, game co-publishing services,
online-video distribution services, and software
maintenance services. In order to minimise the credit
risk, the management of the Group has delegated
a team responsible for the determination of credit
limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s
credit quality, assign an internal credit rating and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed on a periodic basis. Other
monitoring procedures are in place to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group performs impairment assessment.

In respect of accounts receivable relating to the
provision of individual credit, evaluations are performed
on the customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay and take into account information specific to the
customer. Typically, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers, except for the deposits received in
advance.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which mainly comprise of deposits and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank
deposits and time deposits arises from potential default
of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Credit risk
in cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank deposits
and time deposits are mitigated as cash is deposited in
the banks with high credit ratings.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

The Group’s customers are reputable corporations and
thus credit risk is considered to be low. Credit risk on
deposits and other receivables is minimal as the Group
performs ongoing credit evaluation on the financial
condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing
of the receivable balances. Follow up action is taken
in case of overdue balances. In addition, management
reviews the recoverable amount of the receivables
individually and collectively at each reporting date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies have been
followed by the Group during the reporting period and
are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.
None of the Group’s financial assets is secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

37. R EEEEEERBE
(48)
(b) {SESEE (&)
FEMIRRER ()
TERRFEEAEEERNEE
AR REKERTEREEABN

receivable: EH

For mobile advertising services and game co- FRTS B B 5 PR TS R s BE B B AR TS
publishing services ms
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RS EER HAREE SRR
2023 —®'-= (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (ARETR) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNHEA (R7E1HA) 2.07% 375,893 7,795
Within 3 months past due BHSEAR 2.07% 92,057 1,909
3 to 12 months past due BIHI3E 1218 A 2.07% 154,571 3,205
1 to 2 years past due A1 ZE24F 49.80% 14,360 7,151
Over two years past due w2 F Lk 100% 27,990 27,990
664,871 48,050
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEER BERE(E sty
2022 —ECCF (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (AR#TRT) (AR®BFT)
Current (not past due) BNHER (REHA) 1.93% 318,595 6,136
Within 3 months past due BHE3EAR 1.93% 74,600 1,436
3 to 12 months past due BEAISE 121 A 1.93% 155,665 2,997
1 to 2 years past due A1 B2 41.86% 19,604 8,206
Over two years past due BHI2F L £ 100% 22,068 22,068
590,532 40,843
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts

37. &R EPEEEEERBE

(%)
(b) {SEEER (&)
FEWIBRS ()

TREINEBAKEEHENEE
Epa R ERRARRREEEERN

receivable: =
For online-video distribution services RARREER D EREMS
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERiEsRE HEiRE({E St
2023 —E'-= (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (NE&ETX) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNHEA (RE@HER) 3.330% 14,982 499
Within 3 months past due BHESEAR 3.330% 15,220 507
3 to 12 months past due BHZE12{8A 3.330% 29,776 992
Over two years past due AE2F L £ 100% 6,821 6,821
66,799 8,819
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHAEEE HEREE EERE
2022 —E-F (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (AR%Tx) (AR®TFRT)
Current (not past due) BNER (REER) 4.454% 25,637 1,142
Within 3 months past due BESEAR 4.454% 20,581 917
Over two years past due BH1 E24F 100% 6,821 6,821
53,039 8,880
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(b)

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

37. R EEEEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Accounts receivable (continued) FEUARRR (48)
For Software maintenance services B ERE TS
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TR R AR {E SRR
2023 —EC=HF (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (NE¥Tx) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNER (AR3B1HA) - 5,035 -
Within 3 months past due BHISEA A - 295 -
3 to 12 months past due B3 E121EA - 633 =
5,963 -
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHAES R HEREE EERE
2022 —ECF (%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(%) (AR%Tx) (AR¥TRT)
Current (not past due) BNER (k@A) = 7,066 =
Within 3 months past due BHESEAR - 99 =
3 to 12 months past due BHISE12{8A - 211 =
1 to 2 years past due BHI2FE L £ 33
7,409 -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories:

Internal credit rating

PERISE TR

Low risk

EE b

Doubtful

Loss

BR

Written-off

|

Description

i

The counter party has a low
risk of default and does not
have any past-due amounts.

HFRENRBERIEEM

There have been significant
increases in credit risk since
initial recognition through

FEBABRIIBERRGHNE
HER - FERRBRE

There is evidence indicating
the asset is credit-impaired.

BREETREELREERE

There is evidence indicating

A

206 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2023

pud

BHEHE -

information developed
internally or external
resources.

LR AMEIE BN

that debtor is severe

financial difficulty and the

Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery.

FEW I B BEFKH ©

BRENMEBABRENH
Mgk - MAKEEB AR

37. &R EPEEEEERBE

(%)

(b) EEREE (&)

FEW AR (48

)

REEH RIS E R R SR

BREUATE

Trade receivables

B EIRE

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

2HENEEER
(WEFERIE)

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

E2HEBEERSRE
(W EREERIE)

Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
EHRBEERE
(EERME)

Amount is written off

EHEEE

Bl

Other financial
assets

Hitvem&E

12m ECL

12{@ A FRREERER

Lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired)

2HEMEERE
(WEREERIE)

Lifetime ECL (credit-
impaired)
EHRBEERFE
(EERME)

Amount is written off

EHEEE
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—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 37. REBEEBERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Accounts receivable (continued) FEIRRTR (&)
External Internal credit 12m Gross carrying
creditrating  rating or lifetime ECL amount
12f8 RS 2858
SMplEEETR  ABEEFE  HEEERE BIRE{E
RMB’000
AREFT
2023 - ok
Financial assets REHERATTENSRERE
at amortised cost
Financial assets included T AENEZRENEREE N/A Low risk 12m ECL 88,004
in deposits paid TiER R 12{8 A TS
S|
Restricted bank deposit ZIRFIRITER Aa3 orabove  Low risk 12m ECL 10,374
Aa3gillt 4L 128 A RS
B
Time deposits with original  RZIHABB={EH Aa3orabove Low risk 12m ECL 2,651
maturity over three months  EEIF AaszllE TR B 128 A ERIEE
iR
Cash and cash equivalents BRE&RKBEEZEY Aa3 orabove Low risk 12m ECL 521,874
Aa3zlLE TR 12{H A B EE
i
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

37. &R EPEEEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERE(E)
Accounts receivable (continued) FEIRRER (&)
External Internal credit 12m Gross carrying
creditrating  rating or lifetime ECL amount
128521
HMBEEFR  AIEETR HEE6E BREE
RMB’000
ARETR
2022 —ECCF
Financial assets REHERATTENSRERE
at amortised cost
Financial assets included st ABff#RE&MEREE N/A Low risk 12m ECL 64,700
in deposits paid TEA KRk 128 AR E
BE
Restricted bank deposit ~ ZRHIRITER Aa3 orabove  Low risk 12m ECL 61,690
Aa3zh bk ERR 12ERRHEE
B
Time deposits with original  RZIHABB=1EH Aa3 orabove  Low risk 12m ECL 12,637
maturity over three months ~ E2IFH LR R 12 REEE
B
Cash and cash equivalents B E&REEZEY Aa3 orabove  Low risk 12m ECL 538,224
Aa3z M £ R 12EARHEE
B8
Internal credit rating PEBSEETAR

Description — Other financial assets

The management of the Group has assessed that
no debtors have a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. Thus, no loss allowance was
recognized during the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022.

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the Group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Financial Statements

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

37. &R EMEEEEERBE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash

flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2023

(%)

(c) mENEREE
FEBBBERAKEMRBES
FAEITAERESERAER -
ZIAZRERMIARESREE
(Bl ERTR) MEIM A R &S
BeREmal -

FEEEHEERBEHRNE
AR (BRRERT A ARBE AT

M

—F-=%+=-A=+—H

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2tob5years
BHIRH k3
fREE ReREHE HHEEK 1E2f 2F55
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRE ARETR
Accounts payable EHERR 34,381 34,381 34,381 - -
Financial liabilities AR EATE
included in other RS ERN
payables and accruals SREE (T
(excluding VAT payable) FEfT1E(ER) 11,633 11,633 11,633 - -
Interest-bearing bank FTRBTER
borrowings 303,500 303,500 303,500 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 12,277 17,523 2,650 1,487 13,386
Total 2 361,791 367,037 352,164 1,487 13,386
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Liquidity risk (continued)
31 December 2022

37. &R EPEEEEERBE

(#8)
(c)

mENE & ERE (E)
—E-_-F+=-HA=+—H

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2to5years
BRRER 1R
BEHE RERLHE FIRER 1228 2B5F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®TRT AR%Tr AR%Tt AR%Tn
Accounts payable TR 52,959 52,959 52,959 - -
Financial liabilities STARMEEARR
included in other RESHERN
payables and accruals LREE (T
(excluding VAT payable) FE(IBER) 9,210 9,210 9,210 = =
Interest-bearing bank FTEBRITEN
borrowings 260,000 262,724 262,724 - -
Lease liabilities HEaE 12,319 13,116 7,093 6,023 -
Total @t 334,488 338,009 331,986 6,023 -
Capital management (d) BXERE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s capital risk is low. No change was made to the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the year.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the Financial Statements

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities,
and gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the end
of each of the reporting periods are as follows:

A1 5 SR 3R P R

—E-=ft-A=t—H
31 December 2023

37. SRtEEEEBERBE

(48)

(d) BEAEHEE)
REERBEARI LR (LR
HEELERUADE ELEE)
REREEL R (L8 E EE L
BEE)ERER - NG REH
REORBLLRRE ARG EH =M

T :
2023 2022
—g-= —EC_F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

Total current assets nRBEERE 1,795,549 1,785,626
Total non-current assets FRBEEEE 178,181 125,474
Total current liabilities BB ERE 563,893 531,021
Total non-current liabilities ERBaEAEE 4,861 7,255
Current ratio TENL =R 3.18 3.36
Gearing ratio ERGEEE 29% 28%
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. KATMBIARTFE

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

RAB R EBRABARRRAOER 0

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2023 2022
—Eg-= —E-_F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FEREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—ENEBARNRE 721,149 721,149
Total non-current asset FRENEELEE 721,149 721,149
CURRENT ASSETS RENEE
Cash and bank equivalents BeRRITEEY 455 246
Due from subsidiaries A NGB 347,732 349,206
Prepayments, other receivables FENFIE - YR IE
and other assets REHMEE 190 187
Total current assets TMENEELEE 348,377 349,639
CURRENT LIABILITY REaE
Other payables and accruals HinEAFE R BT E R 8,042 8,517
Total current liability TEIEEAEE 8,042 8,517
NET CURRENT ASSETS RENEEFE 340,335 341,122
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERBABERE 1,061,484 1,062,271
Net assets BEEFHE 1,061,484 1,062,271
EQUITY g
Issued capital B2EITIRA 1 1
Treasury shares EERG —* =
Other reserves (Note) HithfE (M) 1,061,483 1,062,270
Total equity AR 1,061,484 1,062,271
* The amount is less than RMB1,000. @ SETE AR 0007 °

The statement of financial position of the Company are signed AANBFBRRERTIHATRTES
on its behalf by: =

Mr. Gao Dinan

BHBEE

Mr. Yu Dingyi
FT—%4&
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. AATMBRRFE (8)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: BT -
A summary to the Company’s reserve is as follows: RNARZFEERZENAT
Employee
share-based ~ Exchange
Share Capital  compensation  fluctuation ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

WRGRERN  HERD
RtvaE  AARG  ERFMEE W RER fact
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARETR AR®TR  ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR

(Note 29) (Note 30)
(Mizk29) (FitE£30)
At 1 January 2022 RZEZZ&#-HF-H 1,809,951 - 62,319 (49,847) (780,888) 1,041,535
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (30,675) (30,675)
Other comprehensive income EREAZFENE :
for the year:
Exchange differences ERES - - - 29,218 = 29,218
Total comprehensive loss ~ FR2EEEEE
for the year - - - 29,218 (30,675) (1,457)
Vested restricted share units  EZEFEEHEEBZRT
transferred to employee ROEN 18,158 - (18,158) - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ MAEm A E B ER B
arrangements - - 22,192 - - 22,192
At 31 December 2022 RIEZZE+-A=1+-H 1,828,109 - 66,353 (20,629) (811,563) 1,062,270
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38.

39.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

38. AATMBRRAR (&)

Employee
share-based  Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
DR BERN  MERD
Btk — EAHE  ESENEE e BiBE a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETE ARBFR  ARBTR ARETR ARETRT ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(t&E29) (tEE30)
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%F-f-H 1,828,109 - 66,353 (20,629) (811,563) 1,062,270
Loss for the year FREE - (14,666) (14,666)
Other comprehensive income EREM2ERE :
for the year: -
Exchange differences ERER - - - 5,730 - 5,730
Total comprehensive loss ~ ER2EEREE
for the year - 5,730 (14,666) (8,936)
Vested restricted share units  EZTEENCHBZ R
transferred to employee REGEN 18,070 - (18,070) - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ MAEm A E HBRER B
arrangements - - 8,149 - - 8,149
At 31 December 2023 R=BZZF+-A=t-H 1,846,179 - 56,432 (14,899) (826,229) 1,061,483

Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of RSUs granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in Note 4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account
when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
accumulated loss should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 7 June 2024.
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“AGM” or

“Annual General Meeting”
[RREEXRE ]
“Articles of Association”
[HEZ=F2 4R |
“associate(s)”

R I

“Audit Committee”

[EZESE

“Auditor”
[ F85Am |

“Beijing JinChi”

Mbmsith |

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”
[EEE
“CG Code”
[EEEE~rEl
“ChiLe Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
[thEE S PRt EEE

“China” or “PRC”

[ |

Definitions

R

the forthcoming 2023 annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 24 July 2024

ARBER-B-NF LA THNEETHNEE-_S=ZFFERRBFK
&

=

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted by way of
special resolution passed at the AGM held on 2 June 2022
ARARURZZBZZF A HETHRRBFAE L BB RIRERN
FR PR RIS T AR E IR 4 A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAE T ZARNERE

the audit committee of the Company
RAREREES

Elite Partners CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company
RARZHERA T EEESTMERAERAR

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (1t mR&MEEREKRHE
BR 2 |]), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 13 May 2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in
Shanghai ChiLe

TREHEERNERBERAR  —XR-EZEANFRAT=ZBREREE
FEEMRZNERAT - 58 LiEEE 49% Mk

the board of directors of our Company
RABESS

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

LR AIMERC1 M DB AP A

Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries

LI R H R A E)

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual
report to the PRC or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau

HEARANE - RXESEMERERAFRMS - NERAMENHE
YFEEaE - HBIRM
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Definitions

EE

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

[AaF ]

“connected person(s)”

[BREAL]

“connected transaction(s)”

[EAER 5]

“Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
(Bt EERE

“Contractual Arrangements

[&#%HE]

“Controlling Shareholders”

I =Rz AR |

“Director(s)”

%

“Group”, “our Group”,
“the Group”, “we”,

“us”’ or “our”
[ASEE 5k #M]
9 For identification purposes only

Wanka Online Inc. (BEW=EAMRAF*), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014 and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1762)

Wanka Online Inc. (BMEZEBERATY)  —RR=-ZF—MNE+—AtAHR
BRSNS EEIMRLNERRBRLAT - HRONEERZAMERLD (R
MR5R 1 1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB L RAE T ZARNEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries
BMBEBENTHZEFNER OB REBBER  REZEWEAR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and its shareholders, details of which are described in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Connected Transactions — Contractual
Arrangements”

HRE+GEE LBHERBBERREMNEHEBEERREARR)TI LN —
RIGHRE  BRAFBHANESERE —BERS - SARH -8

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB LR AR T ZAN RS

the director(s) of our Company

RRAES

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as
a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements)
from time to time

ARF HFARZHBARREHHBER(HUBEECRAESNZHERSE
ANRFIMERA BB A R)

- (EXrag sl
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“HKFRS”

[ ERMTHREER ]

“Hong Kong”
[&E

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[#&7]

“Huanju Times”

581

“Listing Date”
[EHBEH]
“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl ]

“Main Board”

[E#H]

“MHA”

Bk A |

“Model Code”
[#E%E=rHl ]
“Mr. Gao”

&4

Definitions

R

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BBYHHREER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBRRTHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BBEEER

Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EEEA b EHE It R)
BPFRAT]), a company established in the PRC on March 7, 2014, owned
by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital,
respectively

BERAULERAGR)BRAT ) —XR-_E—WUF=AtHBEFERKIL
MNATE BSEERBEEDBIEEH 72% K% 28% KA

21 December 2018, being the date the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

2 \F+ZAT+—B - BRGRER LA A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

BEBBER S MARAE(RE S LR RDEETRHER)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
GXPMEENESRZ (T EEREDS) BYREX GEM SEHEIW
1TEE

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of seven Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Lenovo,
Meizu and nubia

WRHR  ATPELtRTEEETFREERMASE - BIZES - OPPO - vivo
EER ~ BEAR - EHR R S5tk EE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
LR BIMIECIFE LHEITAESETES X ZWZRESFRID

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 %), our chairman of the Board and an executive
Director

BEBELL  RMNESSIERITES
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Definitions

EE

“Nomination Committee’

[REEEE]
“Prospectus”
[fElRER

“Quick App(s)”
["ERFEF ]

“Remuneration Committee”

[HNESE |

“Reporting Period”
[$RE&EH

“RMB!!
AR

“RSU(S)”
I 52 PR 1 AR 5 55 431 |

“SFO”

[E%HREE %S
“Shanghai ChiLe”
[ Eigith4 |

“Share(s)”

[z |

nomination committee of the Company

RATREERES

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its
initial public offering

ARBREHAB - N\F+ AT - HEBHEBERRBENTERER

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store
or download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile
apps

AFNRERANBBEARR  BEFGHTMEABELTHEMRE - B
LhESGREEREFEZ MR

the remuneration committee of the Company

RARFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_ZT_=-F+-A=t—HLFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC

ARY  FEUEEEY

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme

RE-Z—RFROBEERENWZRFIR D EN

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREPIFES E(RFRMERODENRHER]  BMARURMS HXIEK)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L/&ith&= 2Rl AE
fR/A &), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 18 June 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% of its share capital, respectively
EEHREEREERAR  — KRB —NFXA+N\BREPBEEET
MAZNERAT - ASEERIEREMD BIEBH 51.0% K 49.0% R4

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
AT RAHEREE 0.0000002 X THIEZBER
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“Shareholder(s)”
M=

“Stock Exchange”
[ B3 Bt |

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ BB 2AE ]

“substantial shareholder’

[ EERER]

“United States,” “U.S.” or “US”

[ < |

“US$”

=

“Wanka Hong Kong”

[ Grome & |

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE”

[ G 1S v RE 2 |

oy

[ %]

“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—RERG B

Definitions

R

holder(s) of Share(s)
ROEFE A

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEHMERZMARAR

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEAEmRAETZANERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAE T ZARNEE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas

subject to its jurisdiction
ENBRERE  HEL  BhRITHAZEENREHE

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
En 0 XBUEERY

Wanka Holdings Limited (Gt EBRA A]), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly —
owned subsidiary

DGEZERBERAT  —KAZE-—WOFEASAXNBEESBEMRINBRA
7 BERMNEEZEWB LT

Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (BTMIEAEZ S L& (L)
BPBRA|]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and
our wholly-owned subsidiary

TIMEBE A LER(ER)EBRAT  —FR_E—NF+A+BEPEKL
HAaFE - AERMANEZERE AR

per centum

Bt

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016
which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted
share unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set
out in the section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme”

ARARR=ZB—ARF—-AXRBEANRDEBE R=F-N\FEA=+
MM B LZRERDBEMAFERREMBE - EFIRER  HXERFENE
EERE - - A"EROBEE ] &

—T=FHR BMEHHRAF 219



Definitions

EE

“2019 Share Incentive Scheme” the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors —2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—hERGEEE S B ARARZZ2-AFNAZTABRANRO BB E - HEBRIER
[EEEHRE - —F-NFROBEE -

* for identification purposes only

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations,
and the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual
report are translations from their Chinese names and are for
identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese

names shall prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded
to the nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to
figures that have been rounded differently to them.
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Y EHER

REHFEFEEE - FEEEIERUR
BB TR R EEITER P XL
LUBEE - B WEEE  BIAF X ERERE -

FEHFBHETEZHEREDLEFEAHE -
Bt BT RGN RBEARLERA L BET
HIE MR  HBERZLTF BEXE
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